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ORDER OF REFERENCE

House or COMMONS

Fripay, October 19, 1951.

Resolved,—That the following Members do compose the Standing Com-
mittee on Industrial Relations: —

Messrs.
Balcer, Coté (Verdun-La Salle), East),
Beaudoin, Croll, MaclInnis,
Black (Cumberland), Fairclough (Mrs.), McWilliam,
Boucher, Gauthier (Lac St. Jean), Meeker,’
Bourget, Gauthier (Sudbury), ‘Mott,
Breton, Gillis, Murphy,
Brown (Essex West), Higgins, Nixon,
Byrne, Johnston, Pouliot,
Carroll, Kent, Ross (Hamilton East),
Clark, Knowles, Stewart (Yorkton),
Cloutier, Lennard, Viau,
Conacher, Macdonald (Edmonton Weaver—35

(Quorum 10) °

Ordered,—That the Standing Committee on Industrial Relations be
empowered to examine and inquire into all such matters and things as may be
referred to them by the House; and to report from time to time their observa-
tions and opinions thereon, with power to send for persons, papers and records.

TuespAY, November 20, 1951.

Ordered,—That the following Bill be referred to the said Committee: —
Bill No. 23, An Act to amend the Government Annuities Act.

THURSDAY, Novemk;er 22,1951

Ordered,—That the said Committee be empowered to print, from day to
day, 500 copies in English and 200 copies in French of its Minutes of Proceedings
and Evidence, and that Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

TuEspAY, November 27, 1951.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Bryce be substituted for that of Mr.
MaclInnis on the said Committee.

Attest.
LEON J. RAYMOND,

Clerk of the House.

96351—13



REPORT TO THE HOUSE
THURSDAY, November 22; 1951.
The Standing Committee on Industrial Relations begs leave to present the
folowing as a
FIRST REPORT
Your Committee recommends:

1. That it be empowered to print, from day to day, 500 copies in English
and 200 copies in French of its Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence, and that
Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

A. F. MACDONALD,
Chairman.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, November 22, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Industrial Relations met at 10.30 o’clock a.m.,
this day. The Chairman, Mr. A. F. Macdonald, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Black (Cumberland), Breton, Byrne, Cloutier
(Verdun-La Salle), Gauthier (Sudbury), Gillis, Knowles, Lennard, Macdonald
(Edmonton East), McWilliam, Pouliot, Viau.

The Chairman, Mr. A. F. Macdonald, thanked the Committee for the honour
conferred on him and then read the Orders of Reference.

Mr. McWilliam moved,
That the Committee request permission to sit while the House is sitting.
After discussion, by leave, Mr. McWilliam withdrew his motion.

On motion of Mr. Viau,

Resolved,—That permission be sought to print from day to day 500 copies
in English and 200 copies in French of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence
of the Committee.

On motion of Mr. Byrne,
Resolved,—That a Sub-committee on Agenda and Procedure be appointed
comprising the Chairman and five Members to be named by him.

It was agreed that the Minister of Labour and departmental officials be
heard at the next meeting.

Agreed: That the Steering Committee consider and make recommenda-
tions regarding any briefs or requests for a hearing that may be received.

At 11:00 o’clock a.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

WEDNESDAY, November 28, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Industrial Relations met at 9:30 o’clock a.m.,
this day. The Chairman, Mr. A. F. Macdonald, presided.

~ Members present: Messrs. Black (Cumberland), Breton, Brown (Essex
West), Bryce, Byrne, Carroll, Coté (Verdun-La Salle) Croll, Fairclough (Mrs.),
Gauthier (Lac St. Jean), Gauthier (Sudbury), Gillis, Johnston, Knowles,
Lennard, Macdonald (Edmonton East), Viau.

In attendance: Hon. M. F. Gregg, V.C., Minister of Labour; Mr. Arthur
MacNamara, Deputy Minister of Labour; Mr. C. R. McCord, Director, and Mr.
J. G. Fletcher, Actuary, Annuities Branch, Department of Labour.

The Chairman presented the First Report of the subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure which is as follows:

Your subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure met on November 26, and
agreed to recommend:

1. That the next meeting of the Industrial Relations Committee be held on
Wednesday, November 28, at 9:30 o’clock a.m.

5



6 STANDING COMMITTEE

2. That the Life Underwriters Association of Canada, and The Canadian
Life Insurance Officers Association be permitted to submit briefs.

3. That such other organizations as may so request be permitted to file
briefs on the legislation before this Committee.

On motion of Mr. Croll,

Resolved,—That the First Report of the subcommittee on Agenda and
Procedure presented this day be now concurred in.

Hon. Mr. Gregg outlined the purpose of Bill 23, An Act to amend the
Annuities Act.

Mr. McCord was called, outlined the history of annuities from 1908 to the
present, and distributed copies of a brief prepared for the information of
Committee Members.

On motion of Mr. Croll;
Ordered,—That the brief distributed by Mr. McCord be incorporated in the
record. (See Appendix “A” to this day’s Evidence).

Mr. McCord and Mr. Fletcher were questioned, and retired.

Mr. MacNamara filed with the Committee the Annual Report of the
Department of Labour, 1951.

At 11:00 o’clock a.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

E. W. INNES,
Clerk of the Committee.

i
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EVIDENCE

NovEMBER 28, 1951.
9.30 a.m.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum. I am very glad to welcome
to the committee this morning the Honourable, the Minister of Labour (Mr.
Gregg).

Your subcommittee on agenda has agreed to recommend as its first report:
that the next meeting of the industrial relations committee be held this morn-
ing; second, that the Life Underwriters Association of Canada, and the Cana-
dian Life Insurance Officers Association be permitted to submit briefs; third,
that such other organizations as may so request be permitted to file briefs on
the legislation before this committee.

Mr. CroLL: Mr. Chairman, I move the adoption of the report.
Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, this morning we have with us, gentlemen, as I said,
the Honourable, the Minister of Labour; also Mr. C. R. McCord, director of the
annuities branch of the government, and Mr. J. G. Fletcher, the actuary of that
department. I would like it very much if you, Mr. Gregg, would say a few words
to us in regard to this bill.

Hon. Mr. GrREGG: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, I do not think there is
very much I need to say at this juncture. I may say that the reason for the
government bringing in these amendments was with the best of intentions, to
improve the Act. It is not necessary for me this morning to go into the early
history of the Act. I said in my introduction'of the resolution that it was
intended in those early days to work out something of a measure for old age
security. I think it must have been admitted by those who brought the
measure in that it could not cover the whole field at all, but that it would play
a useful part in it. Down through the years I think that a great many people
have felt that those who were able, due to financial resources and earning
power to take some part however small in government annuities, that perhaps
some of them would have been able to look after their old age security through
other channels; but it has, nevertheless, served a very useful purpose. It was
thought that any steps possible at this time to improve the administration of
the Act and to bring certain features of it up to date should be taken, and that
is the intention of the amendment which is now before you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MacNamara, Mr. McCord and the other officials of the department will
be here, and I shall be very happy to attend the sittings of this committee;
and if there is any way we can help to clarify any matter which may come up
we shall be very glad to do so.

The CrairmAN: I may also say, gentlemen, that we are very glad to wel-
come this morning Mr. MacNamara, the Deputy Minister of Labour.

Now, I should like to call on Mr. C. R. McCord, director of the annuities
branch, who will have something to say to the committee in regard to the new
legislation.
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Mr. C. R. McCord, Director, Annuities Branch, Deparitment of Labour, Ottawa, called:

The WiTNEss: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, I think perhaps it might be
well for me to review just a little bit of the history of the amendments that
have taken place over the years with respect to this Annuities Act. The Act
was passed in 1908. It has been before parliament four times since then, includ-
ing the present bill. In 1913 the maximum was increased from $600 to $1,000;
in 1920 there was a further increase to $5,000 and in that same year the death
benefits were changed from 3 per cent to 4 per cent. That is if the annuitant
under the Annuities Act dies before the contract matures the money which
stands to his credit is paid to his beneficiary with interest compounded annually.
The new bill provides of course, that the interest rate on further contracts will
be at the rate of interest applicable to the particular contract; this time it is spelt
right into the Act. Prior to 1920 the Act prohibited the payment of annuity
unless the annuitant had reached the age of 55 years except in cases of illness or
disablement. In 1920 this section was eliminated. The Act was also amended
in that year to permit any person resident or domiciled in Canada to buy an
annuity; previously it applied only to persons who were domiciled in Canada.
In 1925 the minimum annuity that might be purchased was reduced from $50
to $10. Now, with respect to operation, at the moment there are 275,813 con-
tracts in force under the Act. That includes, of course, the figures on employee
registration under group contracts. This 275,000 is broken up as follows: indi-
vidual contracts on which payments are now being made, 40,000; group contracts,
7,000; making a total of 55,026; individual-deferred contracts, 92,488; individuals
under group contracts, 128,299. The average annuity being paid under these
vested contracts is $447 per annum, or approximately $37 per month./ Since
the inception of the Act $652,951,027 has been paid into the fund by purchasers;
and, with respect to the reserve, there has been something like $29 million trans-
ferred into that fund.

By Mr. Croll:

Q. Mr. McCord, you just left us in 1925 with the $5,000 maximum, did
you not expect to carry it down to— —A. 1925?

Q. Yes, $5,000.—A. 1925?

Q. Yes, it was then $5,000.—A. No, that was in 1920.

Q. Oh, yes—A. And in 1925 the minimum was reduced from $50 to $10.

Q. Oh, yes, I see—A. And then we have our present amendments. The
Act has been without change since then and now we have our present
amendment. G

Q. What I am getting at is, it was $5,000 and that was brought down to
$1,200; wasn’t that in 1931?—A. Oh, I'm sorry; yes.

Q. 1931.—A. In 1931 it was reduced from $5,000 to $1,200 where it has
remained since that time.

Q. And the $29 million transferred to the fund, you mean that is money
which was taken out of the consolidated revenue fund and transferred into
this special annuity operation?—A. That is right, and that is from 1908 up
to date.

Mr. CROLL: Yes.'

By Mr. Knowles:

Q. While you are giving figures might I ask if you have the figure as to
the total amount that has been paid out over the years to set against that $652
million that has been paid in?—A. Yes. We have been paying out at the rate
of $26 million a year, that is what it was for the year just ended. I think I
have the figures here showing the total amount of benefit which has been
paid out; yes, $208,611,000, from 1908 to March 1st, 1951,
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Now, the proposed amendments to bill No. 23 to be considered by the
committee are for the purpose of making annuity contracts, individual and group,
more flexible and consequently more adaptable to the needs and perhaps
changes in circumstances of contract holders. Included also are changes con-
templated to remove certain technical difficulties experienced over the years
in the administration of the Act.

The main amendments are:

1. Provision for the issue of three additional types of annuity and
authority to combine two or more types so as to produce an annuity
that will reduce at age 70 by the amount of the old age security
payment. ;

2. Increase in the maximum annuity which may be purchased to $2,400
per annum,

3. Increase in the minimum annuity which may be purchased from $10
to $60 per annum. !

4. Broadening of provisions with respect to the amending of contracts
for the accommodation of purchasers and annuitants, and to provide
for continuity of group contracts underwriting employee pension plans.

5. Provision for the making of regulations concerning cash surrender
privileges.

6. Provision for the basing of interest rates as nearly as practicable to
the yield on long term government of Canada bonds.

Now, we have prepared a brief for the committee and while it does not
refer particularly to the new bill it covers the Act as it presently operates,
describes the kinds of annuities, contains certain statistical tables, and covers
the situation in a general way. I have several of these for the committee for
your examination. :

The CHAIRMAN: You have them with you?

The WiTNESS: Yes.

Mr. CroLL: Mr. Chairman, will you put one on the record?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, we shall, as an Appendix to this evidence.

Mr. CroLL: I so move.

Mrs. FAIRcLOUGH: I wonder if Mr. McCord would repeat the figures and

: the number of contracts?

The WirNEss: There are 275,813 contracts. That includes, of course,
employees under pension plans.

By Mr. Knowles:

Q. That.includes all people now drawing money, and contracts on which
people are still paying?—A. That is right, deferred, Now, I think that covers
briefly the amendments that have taken place since this Act was first put on
the statute books. It gives the number of contracts presently in force and
the average annuity being paid under them, the amount of money paid in since
the Act first started and amounts out as well as the amounts transferred to
maintain reserve.

I might just go over, page by page, a copy of this brief which has just
been tabled here and describe it without reading it. On the first page we
describe the various annuities that are available; on the next page we continue
further with a description of the plans and a description of our group business,
and something of its expansion over the past ten years. On the third page we
describe how our contracts and application forms are developed and approved.
On the fourth page is described how annuities are sold, also something of
our interest rate and mortality tables and the administration of the Act. Page
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5 refers to four tables which are attached to the brief, and the sixth page
continues a summary in two short paragraphs of the kind of business we can
do and what is covered by the Act. Most of the tables go back at least ten
years, some of them right back to 1930.

By Mr. Croll:

Q. Mr. McCord, can you break down table 1? You have administration
costs per annuity in dollars. Can you help us by breaking it down to percent-
ages?—A. Yes, I can tell you the percentage of premium income. - Our adminis-
tration for the last year was 1:22 per cent of premium income.

Q. I am going to follow that up, if you do not mind, as after all we are
anticipating hearing more on this later. How does that compare with the
cost to other people doing a similar sort of business?—A. Do you mean the
items of cost we have included there, or dc you mean how does that percentage
compare to the company’s percentage?

Q. That is right; that is what I mean.—A. I am afraid I do not know what
the companies charge or what their administration percentage is. There is
no profit, of course, included in this, and I do not know what administration
costs of the companies would be. I believe it might run somewhere from 7 per
cent upwards. I am subject to correction on that, it is just a guess.

Mr. KNOWLES: So the figures in the House are correct.

Mr. CroLL: I was quoting a very famous authority on the subject, one
Knowles, who quoted figures in the House of 1 per cent and he was almost
as right as he gets on these things. He also quoted a figure of 7 per cent up
for private companies.

The WiTNESs: I did not read his statement on the percentages.

Mr. KNowLEs: That was a quotation from the Mercer brief. You have
probably seen it. .

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps we can settle that now; perhaps the actuary, Mr.
Fletcher, has some information. Have you any idea what the insurance com-
panies’ average percentage is?

Mr. FLETCHER: If you want precise figures I suppose you can go to the
annual reports of the Superintendent of Insurance, but in general the life
insurance companies in selling an immediate annuity have a loading of some
63 to 75 per cent, which is to cover their commission of about 2 per cent,
which is higher than ours. It has to cover their expenses and it gives them a
little margin for profit and a safety margin in case the mortality rate goes
against them. Now, if we say their expenses are 7} per cent we are perhaps a
little high because actually they may operate cheaper as to their cash costs,
but the cost to the customer is 7} per cent for insurance company expenses.

With regard to their deferred annuities the percentage which they charge
as loading for expenses varies, of course, with the duration the contract would
run to maturity date. They usually have a combination of dollars per con-
tract plus a percentage. It would work out higher than 74 per cent as a per-
centage of premium for deferred annuities because they have in the first place
a higher percentage commission on the premiums for deferred annuities, but
as I said, if you want a general idea of their expenses the figures can be taken
from the annual report of the Superintendant of Insurance and that can be
shown as a percentage of premium income compared to our 1-22 per cent.

By Mr. Johnston: :

Q. You think 73 per cent is a little high?—A. As I say, it includes a
margin for profit and a margin for contingencies. Actual cash expenses of
doing business will be somewhat less.

Q. So that is really a maximum, but it can be a little less?—A. Yes.
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By Mr. Knowles:
Q. But it is a real charge to the purchaser?—A. Yes.

Q. A charge of 7} per cent to the purchaser?—A. Yes.

Mrs. FAIRCLOUGH: Possibly we can examine what goes into the adminis-
tration costs of the department. After all, I suppose the companies have
expenses a government body does not have or does not charge against adminis-
tration, for instance, such things as when they own buildings they do not
charge rent. I believe there is some rent charged and could Mr. McCord tell
us what the rental charges are and where they apply?

The CHAIRMAN: Would you answer that question, Mr. McCord?

The WiTnEss: The figure I gave of 1:22 per cent is based on the expenses
as shown in our annuities appropriation. Now, I agree there are charges that
are not included there such as rent, which is provided by the Department of
Public Works. They may have to rent property or accommodation for us and
though they may own public buildings, nevertheless they have a rental value.
It is estimated that our expenses additional to those shown in the estimates
amount to approximately $142,000. I am just taking last year as an example.
Rents run approximately $55,000; service provided by the Post Office Depart-
ment in collecting premiums—these may be paid at post offices throughout the
country—and the charge for the post office services is approximately $45,000.
We have gone so far as to take the value of the mail we sent out from head
office. I think we have placed a rather high value on that of $40,000, but we
have taken into account the cost of writing annuity cheques, which is done
by the treasury office, and we have examined into that, the cost of necessary
help and so on, and it runs approximately $18,000. *Now, taking all those
things into consideration in addition to the amount shown in our appropriation,
our administration expense as related to premium income is less than 1%
per cent, it comes to 1-49 per cent. I think we have loaded this a bit heavily;
I do not think our postage costs us that much, but it is hard to make an
estimate of a thing like that.

By Mrs. Fairclough:

Q. For instance, in the amount you have for rent, this $55,000, is that
an estimate of all the premises you occupy whether or not rents are payable?
—A. That is an estimate of the premises we occupy, including our head office
in Ottawa in No. 5 Temporary Building.

Q. And the charge for collections and so on is an estimate of the amount of
time spent by their employees in collecting?—A. Yes, throughout their whole
service, it is based on a cost ascertainment basis which they have gone into
quite thoroughly and they propose to charge us for that from now on—that is
why I happen to have the exact figure on that.

Q. Now, this adds up to $158,000. You said there was an additional expense
of $142,000. Is there a discrepancy there?—A. No. I am sorry, there are $30,000
for the post office.

Q. What $30,000?7—A. At least $45,000 for post office. $15,000 of that we
have already paid and already included in our appropriation.

Q. So it would be $30,000 additional to what has already been charged?—A.
Yes, that is right, so it comes out about $142,000.

Q. Do you make any provision for charging up the employer contributions
on annuities for your own staff, or is that charged to the civil service?—A. No,
we do not include that.

Q. ;n normal business operations that would be an expense of operation?—
A. 1 believe that would be correct.
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Q. Have you any idea what that figure would be?—A. It is hard to say. On
superannuation I suppose it is intended to be dollar for dollar of employee con-
tribution. I think it is in pretty much the same situation as other business, to
produce a certain amount of pension an employer might have to dip a bit heavily
on it, from time to time.

Q. I am just wondering what the charge against the department would
be if all the figures for the operation of the department were charged up. You
have wages charged up, and you have unemployment insurance charged up,
but I am wondering about the employer contributions?—A. I suppose we could
do like a pension scheme might do, add 4 per cent of the salary item. Would
that be high, Mr. Fletcher?

Mr. FLETCHER: No, it would not be high.

The WiTNESS: About 4 per cent, if we were to add that.

By Mrs. Fairclough; - 1
Q. I do not have the estimates w1th me.—A. It would amount to $16,000,
about. ad
Mr. KNOowLES: It would still be below 1-6 per cent?
Mrs. FAIRCLOUGH: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any more questions? That was on table 1. Is
there anything arising out of the other tables?

By Mr. Knowles:

Q. Mr. Chairman, may I ask Mr. McCord a question arising out of figures
he has given earlier. You indicated, Mr. McCord, that the total amount paid in
since 1908 was $652,951,027, and the total amount paid out has been $208,611,091.
I take it from that that every year the amount paid in has exceeded the amount
paid out.—A. Oh, yes.

Q. That is, if you put it on an actuarial basis you have to look at it in one
way, but as far as the immediate policy is concerned you are well in the black?—
A. Oh, yes. In this table No. 2 I have given for the last ten years the net receipts,
and the annuity benefits paid. You see there that in 1941-42 the net premium
receipts were $19,630,645 and the amount paid out $9,763,595, and so on up the
line. It reached a high in 1947-48 when $75,067,827 was taken in and $18,294,136
paid out. In the last fiscal year the net premlum receipts amounted to
$59,648,322, as against $24,569,791 paid out.

By Mr. Croll:

Q. Just looking at the 1945-46 figure, and the 1946-47 figure—they appear
to be a little startling, the 1947-48 figure in particular. What conditions brought
that about?—A. The jump in the premiums?

Q. Yes. Almost double.—A. Of course that was brought about to some
considerable extent by the large increase in group business, which brings in
rather large sums of money. The group business was just getting into its
stride at about that time; it did not start much before 1941. It had been a
gradual process up till that time.

Q. Have you any idea what you consider, what you anticipate a normal
year will bring in?—A. Well, in the last few years we have come to consider
something like $60,000,000, but it does not necessarily follow. Every new
contract we sell means more premium income. It is a long range proposition.
As long as the present contracts continue their premiums, those premiums
will be coming in plus the premiums for additional annuities.

Mr. BrRown: It depends on how good your salesmen are.

The WiTNEss: That is quite true.

Mr. JOHNSTON: You really do not push that in the form of salesmanship?
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Mr. Brown: You really do not have your representatives—
Mr. JoHNSTON: I am asking the witness.

The WiTnEss: We have representatives assigned to the various areas and
territories. We have them in 42 main centres across Canada. However,
they have not been, as I say, highly trained to the point of whipping them
up to sales enthusiasm.

By Mr. Brown:

Q. Shall we say how good a service they render?—A. They are rendering
a good service, I would say, in so far as their number will permit, and they
are certainly endeavouring to please the customers that they call on. There
certainly is no high pressure used. It is a question of them trying to fit
a proposition into a particular person’s need or requirement, rather then trying
to make a sale at all costs.

By Mr. Johnston:

Q. You have a very substantial business in this annuity business. How
does that compare with the annuity business which the insurance companies
do in the aggregate?—A. I have not any figures as to the amount of business
the insurance companies do, that is, in dollars. I do not happen to have
them before me, but as far as numbers of contracts are concerned—I am
speaking of the straight annuity contract not tied in with insurance in any way—
I would say that in the deferred business, aside from the group business,
certainly up till the last couple of years, we ran a little bit better than all
insurance companies together in the number that we sold.

The CHAIRMAN: Could you speak just a little louder, please, Mr. McCord?

The WiTNESS: Yes, sir. I have some figures here showing the comparison
of deferred annuities sold in Canada. These figures are for individual policies.
In 1946 we sold 9,530; insurance companies sold 10,099; in 1947 we sold
10,794, insurance companies sold 10,699; in 1948—that was after the rate
change—our numbers dropped off.

Mr. KNowLES: I was going to draw attention to that.

Mr. CroLL: Go ahead.

The WitnNEss: In 1948 the figure is 4,821 as compared with 10,665 for
insurance companies; in 1949 we are down to 4,000 as compared with insurance
companies at 11,000; in 1950, our figure is 5,575 as compared with 11,463 for
insurance companies.

In other words insurance companies have been running along at about ten
to eleven thousand annually in those years. For the first couple of years we were
running equal with them but it tapered off the last couple of years.

By Mr. Johnston:

Q. This is what type?—A. These are just straight individual annuities.

Q. Well, if I have taken the" figures down correctly, the insurance
companies have sold more contracts than you have—for that type of annuity?
—A. Yes, but there are 50 companies involved.

Q. Yes, I know that.

Mr. KNowLES: The difference is rather striking subsequent to the change
in rates in April of 19487

The WITNESS: - Yes.

By Mr. Johnston:

_Q. There has been a very decided change there. To what would you
attribute that—I mean their increase in sales? Would you attribute that to
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the fact there was a change in the interest rate or would that be due possibly to
the pressure of salesmanship by companies—pressure which you do not exert?—
A. You mention increased sales but if you will notice the company sales they
have not increased from 1946 to 1950, even though ours dropped off. Incidentally,
these figures are taken from the report of the superintendent of insurance. The
company totals run anywhere between ten and eleven thousand contracts each
year from 1946 to 1950. Ours dropped off but theirs did not increase
proportionately.

Q. Your total sales were just about half of theirs each year?—A. In the last
couple of years they were just about half. . :

Q. That is my point. What is the cause of that? Is it because the companies
go out and put pressure on in the form of salesmanship, whereas—well, if
people want to buy your annuities they come in and buy them, but if they
don’t they don’t—and that is all?—A. Well, I do not know that their figures
indicate any extraordinary pressure. They did not gain anything but we fell
off. People just did not buy.

Mr. KnowLEs: I suggest that Mr. Johnston is making a wrong com-
parison. One should not compare the government’s sales with company sales
but one should compare government sales post-1948 with government sales
pre-1948. In other words, the people of Canada knew a good bargain even
though it was not well advertised.

Mr. JouNsTON: I think that is true.
Mr. KNOowWLES: Now they realize it is not as good as it was prior to 1948.
Mr. JouNSTON: That would be one of the reasons for the dropping off.

By Mrs. Fairclough:

Q. I wonder if I could ask Mr. McCord whether he has a table showing the
value of the individual contracts—that is how many contracts are in force at
$1,200, how many at $1,100, at $1,000 and so forth? You made the statement
that the average was $477.—A. That is the average vested contract—the average
being paid.

Q. Well, what type of contracts are in force or presently being purchased?

By Mr. Croll:

Q. Mrs. Fairclough, may I ask a question that follows out of the last
matter.  Mr. McCord, can you give us a comparison of group insurance figures,
similar to the one you gave us on deferred contracts, and I think we will exhaust
that subject?—A. For the insurance companies as well?

Q. Yes?—A. Certification under new pension plans—that is pension plans
newly established, ‘according to these figures, show a figure for 1946 of 17,376
under government pension plans, compared with 9,245 for companies. In 1947
under new pension plans issued that year the figure is 25,740 for government
pension plans and 16,546 for insurance companies. In 1948 the figure is 19,000
under new government pension plans and 7,944 for companies.

' By Mr. Johnston:

Q. Mr. McCord, would they be included in Table No. 4—group certificates
issued?—A. No, I am just speaking of new business. That table would cover
all business done in the particular year.

Q. That figure would include older contracts?—A. Yes. In 1949 there were
1,300 new registrations under government plans and 8,394 for companies. In
1950 the figure is 1,000 as compared to 11,470.

Those are new plans written in those particular years.
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Mr. GiLLis: Could I complete that? In your individual annuity contracts
your figures show that you lost about 50° per cent of your business after you
changed the rate. One might be suspicious that the change in rate may have
done that.

What I would like to know is how does your rate for individual annuity
contracts compares with the rates for companies with which you compete?—A.
Well, we are somewhat lower but if I may, I would like to ask our actuary, Mr.
Fletcher, who has the details on the tip of his tongue to give you some informa-
tion on ‘that.

The CHAIRMAN: Can you answer, Mr. Fletcher?

Mr. FLETCHER: Yes. With respect to deferred annuities our rates are
still slightly lower than those of the insurance companies and when it is
suggested that the drop in sales since 1948 is due to the change in rate I think
that is probably true—because we have the same number of sales staff and they
are working harder now than they did before. :

However, and this is a matter of personal opinion, I think when our rates
were increased to a point close to those of insurance companies, if it came to
competition our annuity was, at a disadvantage because it had no surrender
value. We are told by our sales force that they do encounter objections. People
are a little hesitant about having their money irrevocably tied up and not
available if it is needed in an emergency. Therefore, if the government annuity
rate is in direct competition with insurance companies, the insurance company
man will probably get the business because his contract offers a surrender
value in an emergency. That is to say our rates are still lower than those of
the insurance companies, but they are off the bargain counter.

Mr. GiLLis: Could you give us a couple of examples of rates, your own
rates as compared, let us say, with a similar type as handled by the old line
companies?

Mr. FLETCHER: I could not do that off hand. I could give it to you at the
next session, because I have some figures on my desk. It is very difficult to
get precise comparisons because there are varieties in the death benefits offered
prior to maturity date. But I would be glad to have the figures for you at
the next session of the committee.

Mr. GiLLis: I will be glad to see them because I think it would at least
partially answer the question. .

Mr. JounsTON: You did indicate that since the interest rate was changed
there was about a 50 per cent reduction in the business done?

Mr. FLETCHER: That is right.

Mr. JoHNSTON: And as the business decreases, that tends to increase your
costs because your costs are a permanent thing, are they not?

Mr. FLETCHER: It tends to raise your unit cost.

Mr. JounNsTON: What is your view on this point: if the interest rate had
remained where it was, it would ke naturally assumed that business would
have taken it up, or would have remained where it was before; would not your
increased business almost compensate for allowing the interest rate to remain
where it was?

Mr. FLETCHER: Well, that becomes a question, sir, as to what the govern-
ment feels it can afford to pay for the money.

Mr. JoHNSTON: Oh, I am not concerned with government policy in regard
to that, but I am concerned with actual conditions. It is clear, I think, from
what you said—and I thought you expressed it very properly—that because
of the reduction in interest rate, there was a 50 per cent loss in business.

Mr. FLETCHER: Yes.
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: Mr. JounsTON: And I think it naturally follows that the cost per unit will
rise because of the reduction in the interest rate; and that if the interest rate
had remained at the 4 per cent level—

Mr. FLETCHER: Yes.

Mr. JouNsTON: The business would have doubled, or at least remained
where it was generally, or would have shown, let us say, a 50 per cent increase.

Mr. FLETCHER: Yes.

Mr. JoHNSTON: And therefore the annuities branch would not have been
out anymore, and it may be that the public could have got that benefit at no
additional cost.

Mr. FLETCHER: Our unit costs would have stayed down, although our
total expenses would have gone up because we would have been paying more
commission.

Mr. JounsTON: But your paying more commission would be about the
only item.

Mr. FLETCHER: We would have used up more stationery and contract
forms, and we would have had more clerks writing contracts.

Mr. JoHNsTON: But that is not a very considerable amount, is it?

Mr. FLETCHER: No.

Mr. JounsTON: Your overhead was pretty well stationary, was it not?

Mr. FLETCcHER: Fairly well stationary, yes. But I would like to make it
clear that although our unit costs would have been lower, our absolute cash
expenditures would have been greater.

Mr. JOHNSTON: So that while there may have been some loss, it would
have been very infinitesimal though, would it not?

Mr. FLETCHER: I would not call it “infinitesimal” because we mlght have
paid out $200,000 in commissions. But it would probably be worth that to
get the additional number of people started on a savings program.

Mr. JouNSTON: That would somewhat off-set it, would it not?

Mr. FLETCHER: That is the purpose of the Act, yes.
Mr. JoHNSTON: You say that is the purpose of the Act, and that the purpose
would have been improved had we allowed the rates to remain lower, possibly?

Mr. FLETCHER: Yes, I think that is a fair statement.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mrs. Fairclough, do you wish to continue your
questioning?

Mr. HoskING: Mr. Chairman, I am not a member of this committee but

I would like to ask a question.
Mr. CoTte: Mr. Chairman, it must be done with the unanimous consent

of the committee.
The CHAIRMAN: Is there unanimous consent that Mr. Hosking be permitted

to ask a question?
Agreed.

Mr. HoskING: Mr. Chairman, I know of a company in the town adjoining
mine, the Equitable Life Insurance Company of Waterloo.. This company offers
a contract to the buyer at the age of forty, whereby the company will pay
$120 a year, or $10 a month, for a male of age forty, for a premium of $2,416.

For the Government’s similar policy the premium would be $2,443, or a
difference of $27. At age of fifty, the company’s policy would cost $2,035, and
the Government’s policy would cost $2,070, or $35 more; and at age sixty, the
company’s policy would cost $1,613, and the Government’s policy would

cost $1,626.
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The CHAIRMAN: What is your question, Mr. Hosking?

Mr. HoskING: My question was: is it the policy of the government to
charge more for their annuities than do the insurance companies?

Mr. CroLL: That is not a question for the witness to answer, surely, Mr.
Chairman. T

Mr. KNowLES: The features of these policieé would have to be set out
befqre we accept those figures.

Mr. JounsTON: I think this is a little bit irregular, Mr. Chairman. I have
no objection to the hon. member making a presentation, but I think he should
be here as a witness, so that everbody can question him on it. I for one am
not so sure that I am satisfied with the statement that was just made.

The CHAIRMAN: We shall have to discuss this matter in the steering com-
mittee, Mr. Hosking, and if you have any representations you want to make
to this committee, will you please be good enough to make them to the clerk.

Mr. HoskING: I was not trying to intrude, but I thought that Mr. Fletcher
might check to see if these figures are correct, and he might bring back a
report. :

Mr. CroLL: Mr. Chairman, we are going to hear from the underwriters
in due course and they will be presenting this argument.

The CHAIRMAN: We hope to have a meeting of the steering committee later
in the day. Now, Mrs. Fairclough?

By Mrs. Fairclough:

Q. Might I ask Mr. McCord if he has a break-down of contracts?—A. I am
afraid I have not a break-down of the annuities, except the vested annuities.

Q. Well, can we get those figures?—A. Yes.

Q. My reason for asking is this proposed increase from $1,200 to $2,400.
I think it would be interesting to this committee to know what demand there
is for the larger amount. I would like to have the figures on contracts that
have been purchased up to the present time, and the amounts in which they
have been purchased.—A. There is one thing to be said about the figures;
that while one may have a contract for a $300 annuity, there is no reason
why the holder of that contract might not pay in more and ultimately wind
up with an annuity of, let us say, $800 or $1,000.

Q. You mean that they would pay more than the contract called for?—
A. Under the present type of contract they can extend it. We could perhaps give
you information as to what the face value of the contract might be, but it would
not necessarily follow that that would be the amount of the annuity that is
going to be paid out, because it may be more and it may be less.

Q. Would not the fact that there are $477 on the average indicate that there
must be quite a few which are below the average?—A. I shall be glad to give
you the information as to how they go in value. As of March 31, of those less
than $300, it was 44.4 per cent.

Q. You have them just in percentages; you do not have the number of
contracts?—A. I have the number here, yes. Our single life contracts would
be slightly different from these 55,000 I mentioned before which would be
less the group contracts. 21,287 are less than $300; and for $300 to $600 there
would be 11,987; for $600 to $900, 7,106; $900 to $1,200, 1,993; for exactly $1,200
there are 5,422; and over $1,200 (these are the old $5,000 maximum type)
there are 150; that makes a total of 47,000.

The CHAIRMAN: Does that answer your question, Mrs. Fairclough?

Mrs. FAIRCLOUGH: Yes, Mr. Chairman, but I have another question I would
like to ask.

96351—2
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By Mrs. Fairclough:

Q. Calculating the amount to be transferred to maintain the reserve, could
we have some information as to how the figure is arrived at, and also whether
there is any, or what type of consideration is given to prospective increased
mortality?—A. Again I would like to ask, Mr. Chairman, if Mr. Fletcher might
answer that question as he is responsible. for that in our branch.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Fletcher: :

Mr. FLETCHER: Mr. Chairman, under the Annuities Act the Governor in
Council is given authority to prescribe by regulation the basis on which all
outstanding contracts shall be valued. The basis with respect to annuities that
are still deferred is to hold as the liability the accumulation of premiums and
interest. For annuities being paid out, there is prescribed a mortality table and
values per one dollar of annuity for various ages and plans, ordinary and
an interest rate on which they shall be valued. From that we prepare a table of
guaranteed, and if they are guaranteed, for how long. Then it is simply a matter
of tabulating your annuities, collecting together those of the same age and plan,
setting these figures against the values per dollar of annuity and grinding out
the products; so that you come out with a grand total which, according to that
interest and mortality table is the amount of money you must have in hand
to pay these annuities.

Now with regard to the transfer to maintain reserve, it happens that our
annuitants are living longer than they are expected to live according to the
mortality tables. Thus at the end of each fiscal year there are more annuitants
alive than there should be, and we have to hold an unexpected reserve to
continue paying their annuities. The only place we can get the money is from
the consolidated revenue fund. The calculation I just mentioned comes out
higher than the amount of money we actually have, so the difference has to be
made up from the consolidated revenue fund.

Mr. MACDONNELL: Do you send them good wishes on their birthdays?

Mr. FLETCHER: Yes, sir, occasionally, if they reach 100 years, and that in
fact has happened.

Mr. FAIRcLOUGH: We do have a few.

Mr. FLETCHER: We have a few, yes, we had one lady reach 104.
Briefly, the trouble in maintaining reserves arises from the fact that
according to mortality tables too many people are still alive, and there-
fore we have to hold enough money to pay their annuities. Does that
cover the question, Mrs. Fairclough?

Mr. FalrcLouGH: Partly, but I am still not clear as to whether you
anticipate in arriving at the amount of this reserve, or merely take the mor-
tality of those that are still participating or whether you set up a reserve for
future years in the anticipation of their being alive.

Mr. FLETCHER: There is a margin for future improvement in the tables we
are using and it might appear therefore that we should have a surplus because
you can say if we are valuing on a basis that allows a margin for future
increase in longevity, then we should be having a little too much money and
according to our table there should be more people die than expected. The
complicating factor is our very old business. From 1908 to 1936 the contracts
were on a mortality table which was very generous to the annuitants. From
1936 to 1938 premiums were jacked up a flat 15 per cent, as a temporary
measure. Then in 1938 a new mortality basis was adopted and that ran until
1948. In 1948 when the new premiums vere adopted it was decided that all the
annuities being paid would be valued on the same mortality basis as the new
sales, so that the valuation would leave a margin for future improvement. That
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meant every annuity being paid in 1948 had to have its reserve boosted to a
new level. You will notice that there was a transfer of the valuation subsequent
to 1949 of around $12 million. Every year we have about 1,700 to 1,800 old
deferred annuities maturing and we have about the same number of employees
retiring under pension plans, and the vast majority of these contracts were
sold on a premium basis lower than those currently in use. Consequently when
those contracts are transferred from the deferred section over to the vested
section, being paid out, we have to set up as a liability the full amount based
on our current mortality standard, and there is not enough money in the fund
to do that. That is to say, the accumulation of their premiums and interest
is not equal to the reserves we have to hold. That costs us each year a
substantial amount, which might be in the neighbourhood of $1% million.
Now, on the business that has already been valued, we are valuing with an
allowance for the future, and we make from that a paper profit but not enough
to offset the $11 million, say, we have to put up on the old contracts which are
maturing. And you see from the 1950 annual report that on net balance it
costs us about $600,000 to maintain the reserves for the last fiscal year.

Mr. KNowLES: I wonder if I might interrupt at this point, Mr. Fletcher.
Could you give the figures which, when put together, produced that net balance.
In other words, could you tell us what the figure was, the amount required to
take care of the old contracts, and then the paper profif that you thought you
need on new contracts?

Mr. FLETCHER: I havé not the precise figures for the last fiscal year. We
made some tests in earlier years just to see what it was costing us per maturing
contract, but we did not work out the precise figures for the last fiscal year.
I can easily get you a rough estimate if you would like it.

Mr. KnowLEs: I think the point of my question is quite clear.

Mr. FLETCHER: It will come roughly, I think, to what I have estimated
mentally. It would probably cost $1% million on the old contracts. We came
out with $600,000 net, or perhaps $600,000 paper profit, part of that $12,000, 000
coming back to us that we had to put up in 1949.

Mr. KNOoWLES: But you are getting it out of the people now paying under
new contracts?

Mr. FLETCHER: No, it came out of the consolidated revenue fund.

Mr. KNOWLES: I am not referring to the paper profit.

Mr. FLETCHER: Well, it came out of our annuities fund. As I say, with,
respect to contracts which are already in the vested section, that is, those
contracts on which we are paying out annuities, once they get in our reserve
is a little higher than strictly necessary for today’s mortality. We have put
into it a factor of safety to provide for the future, because everybody in this
business is aware that there is a progressive increase in longevity, so we have
a margin for future safety. Therefore, with regard to our valuation standard
today, there are more people dying than that valuation standard expects to die.
Well, if more people die than expected, we have a so called profit.

Mr. ByrNE: Mr. Fletcher, could you tell me what is the average life
expectancy of the government annuitant at the presernt time?

Mr. FLETCHER: The figure would not mean very much because it varies
by age. I can give you something along that line, though.

Mr. CroLL: Ask him the figures for members of parliament, too.

Mrs. FarrcLouGgH: Do you want to scare us altogether?

Mr. JounsTON: Maybe he has a special table for members of parliament.

Mr. FLETCHER: The average age at death runs about 73-8 years for men
and 77-5 for women.

96351—23
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Mr. KNOWLES: Does any woman ever admit she gets that old?

Mrs. FaircLouGH: If she is going to get money out of it, she does.

Mr. FLETCHER: I made a study of our mortality experience for the five fiscal
years from March 1943 to March 1948. That would center more or less around
January of 1946. So, these figures represent the situation as it was five years
ago.

On that basis a man aged 60 would expect to live 17-4 years; a man aged
70 would expect to live 10:8 years. The corresponding figures for women at
age 60—20-3 years; and at age 70—12-5 years—

Mr. KNowLEs: T’ain’t fair.

Mr. FLETCHER: —assuming that mortality remained constant and that there
was no increase in longevity. It would not be safe to sell annuities on those
assumptions however.

Mrs. FaircLouGH: Well, Mr. Fletcher, would you say the mortality tables
in use by the department are comparable to those in use by insurance companies,
or are you optimistic or pessimistic in your calculations?

Mr. FLETCHER: I think we are all pessimistic because we have learned by
sad experience that we must be. We do not use the same mortality tables as
the insurance companies but the one we use and the one they use are for
practical purposes quite closely the same. There is a movement starting among
the insurance companies, as a result of a big study made under the auspices of
the Society of Actuaries, to adopt a new table which has had the blessing of the
Society of Actuaries as being more representative of the mortality pattern today
and what it is likely to be in the foreseeable future. You might be interested
to know, incidentally, that was the mortality basis which was adopted by the
province of Alberta for their new annuity scheme.

Does that cover the question?

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much, Mr. Fletcher.

Mr. JoHNSTON: Before Mr. McCord leaves the subject that he was speaking
on and before we get on to another point there is one matter which I would
like to raise. It will not take very long. I think he said a moment ago there
were about 5,000 annuitants who had a maximum $1,200 annuity, is that right?

The WITNESS: Yes.

Mrs. FAIRCLOUGH: Yes.

Mr. JOHNSTON: That seems to be a rather small number who get the
maximum annuity. Now, if the annuity is raised from $1,200 to $2,400 what
percentage increase will there be in the total number who will buy the
maximum annuity? Y

The CHAIRMAN: I wonder whether that is a question which the witness can
answer, Mr. Johnston?

Mr. JOHNSTON: $2,400 just happens to be the figure in the bill. Suppose
you double the present figure, which brings it to $2,400, what would be the
percentage of increase in those who take that maximum annuity?

The WrTnESs: I am sorry, sir, I could not even guess at that. These 5,000
annuitants have the $1,200—and those are vested annuities presently under
payment. The ninety odd thousand individuals with deferred contracts may,
as I mentioned a moment ago in answering another question, have started out
by buying a $300 annuity but they may wind up with a $1,200 annuity. It is
hard to say where they are going to come out in the thing—

Mr. KNowLES: Or vice versa?

The WiTNESS: Yes, they could stop paying and not come ogt with very
-much. These older contracts were wide open in that rcspect. It did no.t matter
how much you took in the original conizact because you could ex'end it to the
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maximum allowed under the Act. For that reason I would hate to hazard a
guess—and I could not hazard a guess as to what the percentage might be. The
whole purpose of the $2,400 amount is to bring the thing into line with present
day earnings and so forth. If a person wanted to gauge his pension on the
basis of his present day earnings and put away a regular amount it would be
possible for him to wind up with $2,400—which is twice the amount that is in
effect at the present time.

Mr. JOHNSTON: Suppose you double it. $1,200 is the total amount now but
if you double it it would be $2,400. You have now 5,000 who are taking the
$1,200 so would it be fair to say that 10,000 would take the $2,400?

Mr. KNowLES: It would be more likely to be 2,500.
The WitnEss: I would not like to guess at it.

Mr. CroLL: May I ask one question. I saw a figure some time ago to the
effect that 70-2 per cent of the contracts, personal contracts, are for less than
$600. How right am I?

The WiTness: That is right.

Mr. CroLL: That is correct?

Mr. FLETCHER: It sounds about right.

Mr. CrorL: All right.

The WitnEss: Yes, 69-4 per cent are for less than $600.

The CHAIRMAN: Mrs. Fairclough and gentlemen, the time for the committee
meeting is running out but we are very glad to have with us this morning
Mr. Arthur MacNamara, the deputy minister of Labour, and I am quite sure the
committee. would be glad to have Mr. MacNamara say a few words. Would
you be good enough to do that, Mr. MacNamara?

Mr. ARTHUR MACNAMARA (Deputy Minister of Labour): Mr. Chairman and
members, your time has just about run out, so I think I can best help you by
saying very little.

This is good legislation. The department would not like you to think that
we have any regret because people are living longer than they formerly did.
We do not want you to think that we worry about that.

There are only two things I want to say. Mr. Croll gave me an idea. He
said he hoped to read this book at some time. The annual report of the Depart-
ment of Labour has just come out and it has a section in it in regard to
annuities. I would like to file it with you, Mr. Chairman; and let me say
that we shall furnish you with extra copies of it for the next meeting.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you.

Mr. MACNAMARA: Some of the information in there has not been mentioned
by either Mr. McCord or Mr. Fletcher.

The only other point I think might be helpful is the point you have been
discussing, about mortality. b

In 1949 we called on Mr. W. A. Jenkins, the vice-president and actuary of
the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, for his opinion
as to the adequacy of the mortality basis of the 1948 premium rates, which was
the last revision. Mr. Jenkins’s report could be given to you if you wish. But
he said that we were all right as far as our basis was concerned, that we were
not over-loading the costs, and that we were just about right; but that we should
watch it pretty closely. That is the situation.

We think that the mortality tables, as far as we can judge, are proper.
Some question arose here this morning as to the drop in business. It is true that
when the 1948 adjustment was made, business started to fall off. I think that
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would be expected. Our commission men told us that the people who are
considering buying are waiting until we settle definitely what the conditions
are going to be. :

I expect, after the bill is dealt with, that our opportunities for sales will
be very much improved. And, as I said initially, it is good legislation and I
hope that the sales will be improved. I thank you very much.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much, Mr. MacNamara.
Now, with regard to the next meeting, do you wish me to call a meeting of
the steering committee today?

Mr. CroLL: Yes. Let the steering committee bring in a report.

The CHAIRMAN: At the present time we are limited with respect to the
time of our meetings because we have not the necessary authority to meet while
the House is sitting. That limits the scope of time available for our meetings.
So I wondered if you would like to make some suggestions this morning before
this meeting adjourns.

Mr. CroLL: Mr. Chairman, some of the people here are opposed to our sit-
ting while the House is in session because there are three important commit-
tees which are working pretty steadily. .

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. CroLL: I think we have not anything to worry about in this bill. We
have a couple of people to hear and we can do that some morning. I do not
think it will take us more than one meeting to complete our dealing with the
bill which is before us. I do not think there is any question about agreement
on it in principle. Two or three meetings should serve to finish it. But you
must realize that the opposition is pretty thin.

The CHAIRMAN: That is true.
Mr. LENNARD: What do you mean, “pretty thin”?
Mrs. FaircLouGH: He doesn’t mean personally.

Mr. CrRoLL: These committees are driving pretty hard, so it makes it rather
difficult for us.

The CHAIRMAN: It looks as if we shall have to meet in the morning.

Mr. CroLL: Sure. Call the meeting for 8:00 o’clock and make sure that
the opposition is here. .

Mr. KNOWLES: Do not worry about the opposition.

The CHAIRMAN: We shall have a meeting of the agenda committee to decide
on the witnesses to be heard at the next meeting. This meeting is now adjourned.

A
Q“‘
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APPENDIX A

CANADIAN GOVERNMENT ANNUITIES

Prepared for the Standing Committee
of

The House of Commons
on Industrial Relations

by
The Department of Labour

November, 1951.

An Act to authorize the issue of Government Annuities for Old Age was
assented to on July 20th, 1908, and cited as the Government Annuities Act, 1908.

The preamble to the Act reads as follows: “Whereas it is in the public
interest that habits of thrift be promoted and that the people of Canada be-
encouraged and aided thereto so that provision may be made for old age; and
whereas it is expedient that further facilities be afforded for the attainment of
the said objects: Therefore His Majesty, by and with the advice and consent
of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows”.

The Government Annuities Act, copy of which is annexed to this brief,
has remained substantially unchanged since its enactment in 1908. Under the
provisions of the Act two general types of contract have been issued. These are:

(i) Deferred Annuities
(ii) Immediate Annuities

There are three plans of Deferred Annuity contract available:

(a) Deferred Life Plan—Upon maturity of the contract, the annuity com-
mences and it is payable in regular monthly instalments for the life of the
annuitant, the benefits ceasing with death. Should the annuitant die before
the annuity begins the premium payments made plus 4 per cent compound
interest are returnable to the annuitant’s estate.

(b) Deferred Guaranteed Plan—Upon maturity of the contract the annuity
becomes payable in monthly instalments, continuing for the life of the annuitant
and for 5, 10, 15 or 20 years in any event, according to the guaranteed period
selected by the purchaser. If the annuitant dies before the annuity commences,
the monies paid with interest are returnable to his estate. Or, if the annuitant
dies during the guaranteed period, the instalments of annuity remaining
unpaid are continued to his estate for the balance of the guaranteed period.

(c) Deferred Last Survivor Plan—Under this plan two persons, generally
husband and wife, take out an annuity together. Upon maturity, the annuity
is paid as long as both live and the full amount to the survivor for life. If
one annuitant dies before maturity, the full amount paid in premiums remains
at the credit of the survivor. If both annuitants die before commencement of
the annuity, the premiums with interest accumulations are returnable.

There are three plans of immediate annuity contract available:

(a) Immediate Life Plan—The annuity under this plan commences one
month from date of purchase and continues as long as the annuitant lives.

(b) Iminediate Guaranteed Plan—Under this plan the annuity is payable
in monthly instalments during the life of the annuitant and payments are
guaranteed for 5, 10, 15 or 20 years in any event, according to the guaranteed
period selected by the purchaser. If the annuitant lives longer than the
guaranteed period, the benefits are continued as long as he lives.
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(c) Immediate Last Survivor Plan—Under this plan two persons, usually
husband and wife, purchase an annuity jointly. The annuity is payable in
monthly instalments as long as both annuitants live and the benefits are con-
tinued in full amount until the death of the last survivor.

Deferred annuities may be purchased by periodical premium payments or
by single premium payments. The periodical premiums are usually deposited
monthly, quarterly, or half-yearly or annually. The purchase of immediate
annuities is by lump sum cash payments. Premiums may be deposited at any
accounting post office throughout the country or remitted to the Annuities
Branch direct by cheque, money order, etc., in favour of the Receiver General
of Canada. The maximum amount of annuity purchasable on the life of one
person or on the lives of two persons jointly is $1,200.00 a year.

Under Section 6 of the Act provision is made whereby Group Contracts
may be entered into with employers to give effect to approved employee retire-
ment pension plans.

Until about twelve years ago very little use was made of Canadian Govern-
ment Annuities for the purpose of underwriting Retirement Annuity Plans.
Since that time the development has been as follows:

Group Contracts Employees
March 31 i in force included
1940 L S R e 4 1,240
BOATRE N o (el e 30 7,776
1942 N SR e 49 11,180
1943 5 e A v 70 15,351
G4 S e e S 154 28,919
A7 L nss bR B e 270 38,872
1946 1 e s % 433 : 56,227
BN 7 et R g B 612 86,638
1948 iR r s 708 113,401
1457 i S O 809 143,270
15 Do R SR 846 158,959
511 Bt s A0 i a 900 173,228

Of the 173,228 employees included up to March 31, 1951, 44,929 were no longer
participating for reason of retirement, death or termination of service, leaving
a net total of 128,299 active participants.

In addition to Group Annuity Contracts, approximately 350 pension plans
covering about 9,000 employees were underwritten by individual contracts.

Premiums paid under contracts entered into in connection with Retirement
Annuity Plans amounted to $36,506,202.65 in the fiscal year 1949-50, and
$35,367,096.15 in the fiscal year 1950-51.

Retirement Annuity Plans are underwritten by entering into a Group
Annuity Contract where a large number of employees is involved, and indi-
vidual contracts for the smaller organizations. The premium rates are the same
in each method of underwriting and are similar to the rates applicable to persons
purchasing annuities as individuals. The normal type of plan is contributory,
the employee paying a fixed percentage of earnings and the employer paying
a similar amount or such amount as may be necessary to complete the purchase
of a fixed annuity. The employer generally makes additional payments in
respect of prior services. When an employee’s service is terminated prior to
retirement, he cannot withdraw his money but is credited with a paid-up
annuity purchased by his own contributions and such part of the employer
contributions as the contract may prescribe. In the event of his death before
retirement, the total of his own contributions with interest and such part of
the company contributions as the contract may prescribe will be paid to his
heirs. On retirement, the annuity purchased by all contributions made on his
behalf will be paid to him for life and senerally carrying a guarantee that
payments will be made for a minimum of five years.

o



)

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 25

CONTRACT AND APPLICATION FORMS

It is provided in Section (c¢), paragraph 13 of the Act that the Governor-
in-Council may make regulations not inconsistent with the Act—‘“as to the
mode of making, and the forms of, contracts for annuities, including all require-
ments as to applications therefor”;

Therefore, all forms of application and contract writings for. annuities
entered upon an individual and group basis are approved by the Governor-in-
Council. :

SALE OF CANADIAN GOVERNMENT ANNUITIES

Special representatives for the sale of annuities are employed on a com-
mission basis. These representatives are located in the principal centres of
population. Annuities field men cover not only the municipality in which they
are located, but the surrounding districts, maintaining co-operation with the
Postmasters. The sale of annuities in the smaller centres of population not
covered by annuities representatives is dealt with by correspondence direct with
Head Office in Ottawa.

INTEREST RATES AND MORTALITY TABLES

The interest rate and the mortality table for calculating annuity premiums
are set by Order-in-Council as provided in the Act.

The original rates were at 4 per cent interest with mortality according to
the “British Offices Life Annuity Tables, 1893”. In 1936 an interim increase of
15 per cent in annuity premium rates was made, pending a mortality study to be
made by Professor M. A. Mackenzie of the University of Toronto. In 1938 a new
mortality table was adopted, namely that contained in the volume “The Mortal-
ity of Annuitants 1900-1920””. This table is known for short as the a(m) & a(f)
table, and it is a projection of the mortality improvement to produce the level
of mortality to be expected in 1940. Ages were taken as one year younger than
actual age, as Professor Mackenzie’s report revealed that the mortality under
Government Annuities had been at that level. Increasing longevity, however,
forced a further revision of the mortality basis in 1948, when ages were taken
as three years younger than actual from the same table. Also in 1948, the

interest rate was reduced to 3 per cent, approximately the rate for Government
Bonds.

ADMINISTRATION

The Government Annuities Act was initially administered by the Depart-
ment of Trade and Commerce. In 1912 the administration was transferred to
the Post Office Department, and in 1922 the administration of the Act was
entrusted to the Department of Labour, which has administered the Act since
that time.

The costs of administration under the Government Annuities Act are not
made a charge against annuity contract holders, but are paid out of an Annuities
administration appropriation voted by Parliament for the purpose. Monies
received in consideration for annuities are deposited in the Consolidated Revenue
Fund and payment of benefits under annuity contracts are paid out of the same
Fund. The increase in administration cost in recent years is accounted for by
the general increase in volume of business written and under administration.

Table No. 1 gives administration costs, amounts transferred to maintain
reserve, and number of annuities in force in each of the past twenty
years.

During recent years a marked growth occurred in the number of Group
Annuity Contracts under administration from 4 contracts covering 1,240

employees in 1940, to 900 contracts covering 173,228 employees as of March
31st, 1951.



26 STANDING COMMITTEE

The increase in the number of Retirement Annuity Plans established is
largely due to the generally increased interest in Pension Plans throughout
Canada.

Prior to the rate change in April of 1948 the sale of individual annuities
was steadily increasing as more and more people in classes not covered by any

' pension scheme and who ware desirous of making provisions for their own
old age became aware of the Goverment Annuities System.

Annexed hereto are the fololwing tables:

Table No. 2—Shows the net amount received in premiums from 1908 to
March 31, 1951, and the total annuity benefits paid during that
period. This table also shows the net premiums received and bene-
fits paid during each of the past ten fiscal years.

Table No. 3—Shows the number of annuity contracts in force by category
(i.e.) vested, deferred individual and deferred group.

Table No. 4—Shows the number of contracts and certificates issued—
deferred, immediate and group during each of the past ten fiscal
years.

In summary, the Canadian Government Annuities scheme provides a simple
and convenient voluntary savings plan for persons resident or domiciled in
Canada to provide an assured income for old age.

Government Annuities may be purchased under individual annuity con-
tracts either on the instalment plan or by lump sum purchase.

Industrial employee and other group retirement pension plans may also
be implemented by the purchase of annuities under contracts entered into by
the employer or organization, pension payments being derived from employer
contributions or joint employee and employer contributions.
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TABLE No. 1
RE GOVERNMENT ANNUITIES ACT
Adminis-
Am’t Transferred Adminis- Annuities tration
Fiscal to maintain tration in force cost per
Year Reserve Costs deferred & vested annuity
o410 o § R IR R $ 108,644.72% $105,000.00 11,781%* $8.91
5§ O 5 Rl SN, 261,939.35 75,000.00 13,273 5.65
EDRRART S Lt 289,435.39 57,000.00 14,400 3.96
1933-84 ....» ST 184,237.98 84,177.23 16,565 5.08
P e B U ey 146,057.46 135,000.00 20,226 6.67
e 2 (e oA R R TN 271,826.73 187,912.52 - 26,249 7.16
0 d o s S R 540,831.72 212,036.79 33,685 6.29
1937-38 . 0. o500 8,941,195.84 185,955.41 39,015 4.77
103839 5 s A nil 261,254.56 46,970 5.56
FOGA 0 s By 379,006.95 276,669:17 54,060 512
194041 0. h L0 111,425.22 249,540.76 65,780 3 .79
194142 i ok, 616,981.58 255,441.52 ' 73,347 3.48
1R49=43 L TG, 497,790.26 264,228.67 81,627 3.24
1943-44 .......... 32,180.49 303,917.28 99,430 3.06
PORG-AG 2 Ll s 257,288.00 353,556.72 112,184 3.15
157 2 S S 293,797.96 400,916.51 133,387 3.01
QORG-S e 977,069.58 663,412.83 173,254 3.83
j L L g R 331,856.85 - 665,622 .45 210,935 3.16
194B-49 7, . 5T o 11,408,468.42 725,296.90 242,292 2.99
AGEQH0 200 T 1,255,771.76 699,423 .84 258,679 2.70
s 2 B s U S e 615,757.59 752,356.12 275,813 2.23
Grand Total .... $27,521,563.85 $6,912,719.28

*From 1908 to March 31, 1930, annuities in force had accumulated to the total of
10,183 and the total amount transferred to maintain reserve was $1,692,938.46.

Note: All vested annuities (under payment) are valued actuarially each year.
Our annuitants who entered into contracts prior to April 19, 1948, have lived and are

living longer than was anticipated when the premiums were computed necessitating

the transfers shown in this table from the Consolidated Revenue Fund to the Annuities
Fund.

In the fiscal years 1937-1938 and 1948-49 all vested contracts were revalued on
the revised and stiffened mortality basis then adopted and applicable to new contracts,
thus making the substantial transfers shown to have been made in those years
necessary to maintain reserve.

Deferred annuities entered into at the old and lower rates are valued upon
the basis of current mortality when they mature. In consequence the loss on account
of increase in longevity is absorbed at maturity instead of being spread over the life
of the contract. It is considered that the current mortality basis adopted in 1948
is adequate for annuities to be sold during the next few years.
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TABLE No. 2

Net Premium Receipts and Total Annuity Benefits Paid During Period 1908 to
March 31, 1951, and During each of the past Ten Fiscal Years

Net Premium

Annuity

Receipts Benefits Paid

1908 )

March 31, 1951 $652,951,027 $208,611,091
194442 .. .. i it 19,630,645 9,763,595
194043 - oS 20,415,365 10,552,688
1943-44. ... ... 5500 26,600,098 11,171,629
L R S 33,076,436 12,183,875
1985=46: . ... 0wl 46,954,536 13,486,347
1946-47 . .. i\ Soiits 72,009,764 15,651,343
ROET-AB: . oo R 75,067,827 18,294,136
1948-49............. 64,311,116 21,304,755
3940=b0>~ .=, Lt 63,133,242 23,448,706
E900=DT 3 0 - ey 59,648,322 24,569,791

TABLE No. 3

Average
Annuity
Per Contract

$398
396
397
398
408
418
429
434
439
447

Number of Contracts in Force by Category as of Mar 31, 1951

Vested .. ..3..
Deferred—Individual
Deferred—Group

Total

TABLE No. 4

92,488
128,299
275,813

Number of Contracts and Ceftiﬁcates issued—deferred, immediate and group,
during each of the past Ten Fiscal Years

Individual Contracts

Group Certificates

issued issued
Fiscal Year Deferred Immediate (all deferred)

1941427 % By 3,411 1,778 3,404
1889-43 0 ) st 4,094 1,343 4,171
1948<44. ioiaiosena 4,415 1,371 13,568
194445 5 ;s s 4,853 1,630 9,313
1945-46............ 6,098 2,085 17,355
1946-47 . ' s mbvian 9,530 3,644 30,411
184748 .. . .. Giaeny 10,794 3,443 26,708
1948-40 .0 5.5 Lt 4,821 1,642 29,869
194860 1 L5 st 3,958 1,431 15,689
1060-81 i o5 b 5,676 1,172 15,028

Total

8,593

9,608
19,354
15,796
25,538
43,585
40,945
36,332
21,078
21,775

=\,
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GOVERNMENT ANNUITIES ACT

Chapter 7 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927, as
amended by Chapter 33 of the Statutes of 1931.

(Office Consolidation of the Act)
An Act to authorize the issue of Government Annuities for Old Age.

HEREAS it is in the public interest that habits of thrift be

promoted and that the people of Canada be encouraged and
aided thereto so that provision may be made for old age; and whereas
it is expedient that further facilities be afforded for the attainment
of the said objects: Therefore His Majesty, by and with the advice
and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts
as follows:

SHORT TITLE

1. This Act may be cited as The Government Annuities Act,
1908, -¢..5; s 1«
INTERPRETATION

2. In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,

(a) “annuitant” means a person in receipt of, or entitled to
the receipt of, an annuity;

(b) “annuity” means an annuity issued under the provisions
of this Act;

(¢) “Minister” means the Minister appointed by the Governor
in Council to administer this Act;

(d) “purchaser” means any person who has contracted for the
purchase of an annuity.

3. Until otherwise determined by the Governor in Council
under the provisions of paragraph (c) of section two, this Act shall
be administered by the Minister of Labour.

4. His Majesty, represented and acting by the Minister, may,
subject to the provisions of this Act and of any Order in Council
made under the authority of this Act, contract with any person for
the sale

(a) of an immediate or deferred annuity to any person resident

or domiciled in Canada,

(i) for the life of the annuitant;

(ii) for a term of years certain, not exceeding twenty years,
provided the annuitant shall so long live;

(iii) for a term of years certain, not exceeding twenty years,
or for the life of the annuitant, whichever period shall
be the longer;

(b) of an immediate or deferred annuity to any two persons
resident or domiciled in Canada during their joint lives,
and with or without continuation to the survivor.

5. The purchaser may, by the payment at any time of a sum
of not less than ten dollars, or by the payment of a stipulated sum
periodically at fixed and definite intervals, to any agent of the
Minister appointed under the provisions of this Act, purchase an
annuity under the provisions hereof: Provided, however, that the
amount payable by way of the annuity so purchased shall be subject
to the terms of section eight.
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6. Any purchaser who has money sufficient for the purpose
deposited in any Post Office Savings Bank, may, upon making
demand in such form as is prescribed in that behalf by the Postmaster
General, authorize the Postmaster General to transfer to the Minister
any sum which such purchaser desires to apply to the purchase of an
annuity under this Act.

2. Any society or association of persons, being a body corporate
for fraternal, benevolent, religous or other lawful purposes, may
contract with His Majesty, on behalf of such of its members as are
domiciled in Canada, for the sale to such members of annuities
otherwise purchasable by them as individuals under this Act; and
any sums of money necessary to the carrying out of this object may
be paid by such society or association direct to the Minister, or may
be deposited in any Post Office Savings Bank, to be transferred by
the Postmaster General to the Minister.

3. Employers of labour may, pursuant to agreement entered into
with their employees in that behalf, such agreement to be of a
form approved by the Minister, contract with His Majesty for the
sale to such of their employees as are domiciled in Canada of
annuities otherwise purchasable by such employees as individuals
under this Act; and any sums of money necessary to the carrying
out of this object, whether such sums are derived from the wages of
the employees solely, or partly from the wages of the employees
and partly from contributions of the employers, or from contributions
of the employers solely, may be paid by such employers direct to
the Minister, or may be deposited in any Post Office Savings Bank
to be transferred by the Postmaster General to the Minister; but
unless otherwise expressly stipulated, any sums so paid shall be held
for the exclusive account of the persons in whose names they were
deposited respectively.

7. All contracts for the purchase of annuities shall be entered
into in accordance with the values stated in tables prepared under
regulations made pursuant to section thirteen and for the time
being in use.

8. An annuity shall not be granted or issued on the life of any
person other than the actual annuitant, nor for an amount less than
ten dollars a year; and the total amount payable by way of an
annuity or annuities to any annuitant or to joint annuitants shall
not exceed twelve hundred dollars a year.

(By chapter 33 of the Statutes of 1931 the previous maximum
of five thousand dollars was changed to the present figure, but with
the provision that this should not affect any existing contract for an
annuity.)

2. Any contract providing for an annuity to commence to be
payable at any greater age than eighty-five years shall, as to
purchase price, be subject to the same terms as if the age were
exactly eighty-five years.

3. When a married man who has purchased an annuity payable
to himself applies to have a portion thereof converted into an
annuity payable to his wife, or when a married woman who has
purchased an annuity payable to herself applies to have a portion
thereof converted into an annuity payable to her husband, the
Minister may make such conversion, if
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(a) the application is made within the three months preceding
the time when the annuity becomes payable; and

(b) the annuity so made payable to the wife does not exceed
one-half of the husband’s annuity, or the annuity so made
payable to the husband does not exceed one-half of the
wife’s annuity; and

(c¢) the provisions of this Act and any regulations made under
this Act are complied with.

9. The Minister may refuse to contract for an annuity in any
case where he is of opinion that there are sufficient grounds for
refusing so to do.

10. Except as otherwise provided in this Act, no property, right,
title, benefit or interest in, under, or arising out of a contract for an
annuity shall be transferable, either at law or in equity.

2. The Minister shall not receive nor be affected by notice how-
ever given, of any trust affecting an annuity or affecting moneys
paid or payable in respect of an annuity.

11. An annuity and all moneys paid or payable and all rights
under an annuity contract shall be exempt from the operation of
any law relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, and shall not be
seized cor levied upon by or under the process of any court.

2. If the application for an annuity contract is made and the
consideration therefor is paid with intent to delay, hinder or defraud
creditors, the creditors shall, upon establishing such intent before a
court of competent jurisdiction, be entitled to receive, and the
Minister is hereby authorized to pay to them or to any person
authorized by the court to receive it on their behalf, any sum paid
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in by the purchaser, with interest thereon at the rate of three per:

cent per annum compounded yearly, or so much thereof as is certified
by the court to be required to satisfy the claims of such creditors,
and costs; and thereupon the annuity contract shall be cancelled, or
the annuity to become payable thereunder shall be proportionately
reduced, according as the whole or a part only of the sum payable
as aforesaid is so paid by the Minister; or, if an annuity is then
payable under the contract, such payment may be made out of and
up to an amount equal to the present value of the annuity so payable,
and the contract shall thereupon be cancelled, or the annuity payable
thereunder preportionately reduced, according as the whole or a part
only of such present value is so paid.

3. No action shall be brought for the cancellation of an annuity
granted under this Act after the lapse of two years from the time
at which the payment complained of has been made.

12. When the annuitant or last survivor of joint annuitants dies
before the annuity becomes payable, and any moneys have been
paid or deposited as consideration for the annuity, such moneys
shall be repaid to the purchaser or to his legal representatives, with
interest thereon at the rate of four per cent per annum, compounded
yearly; but if there is an express agreement between the Minister
and the purchaser as to dealing with such moneys, then they shall be
paid as provided in such agreement.

2. When, under the annuity contract, the annuity is payable
for a term of years certain or for the life of the annuitant, whichever
period shall be the longer, and the annuitant dies before the expira-
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tion of the said term of years certain, the annuity shall, during the
unexpired portion of the said term, be paid to the purchaser or to his
legal representatives; but if there is an express agreement to the
contrary between the Minister and the purchaser, the annuity shall
be paid as provided in such agreement.

138. The Governor in Council may make regulations not incon-
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(a) as to the rate of interest to be allowed in the computation
of values in the tables hereinafter referred to; and as to
the rate of interest to be employed in valuing the annuities
as provided for in subsection two of section fifteen;

(b) as to the preparation and use of tables for determining the
value of annuities; and the revocation of all or any such
tables and the preparation and use of other tables;

(c) as to the mode of making, and the forms of, contracts for
annuities, including all requirements as to applications
therefor;

(d) as to the selection of agents of the Minister to assist in
executing the provisions of this Act, and the remuneration,
if any, to such agents therefor;

(e) as to the modes of proving the age and identity and the
existence or death of persons;

(f) as to the modes of paying sums of money payable under
this Act;

(g) as to dealing with an application of unclaimed annuities;

(h) for the doing of anything incidental to the foregoing mat-
ters, or necessary for the effectual execution and working
of this Act and the attainment of the intention and objects
thereof.

14. The moneys received under the provisions of this Act shall
form part of the Consolidated Revenue Fund; and the moneys payable
under the said provisions shall be payable out of the said Consoli-
dated Revenue Fund.

15. An account shall be kept, to be called the Government
Annuities Account, of all moneys received and paid out under the
provisions of this Act, and of the assets and liabilities appertaining
to the grant of annuities under the said provisions; and among the
liabilities included in the said account at the end of each fiscal year
shall appear the present value of the prospective annuities contracted
for up to the end of such fiscal year.

2. The present value referred to in the preceding subsection
shall, as to interest, be calculated upon such rate as is fixed by the
Governor in Council, and, as to mortality, upon such rates as are
used in preparing the tables approved of by the Governor in Council
and for the time being in use, as provided for in paragraph (b) of
section thirteen.

16. There shall be laid before both Houses of Parliament, within
the first thirty days of each session thereof, a return containing a full
and clear statement and accounts of all business done in pursuance
of this Act during the fiscal year next previous to such session, and
copies of all regulations made during that fiscal year under the pro-
visions of section thirteen of this Act.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

FripAy, November 30, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Industrial Relations met at 9:30 o’clock a.m.,
this day. The Chairman, Mr. A. F. Macdonald, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Brown (Essex West), Bryce, Byrne, Coté
(Verdun-La Salle), Fairclough (Mrs.), Gillis, Knowles, Lennard, Macdonald
(Edmonton East), Pouliot, Viau, Wylie.

In attendance: Hon. M. F. Gregg, V.C., Minister of Labour, Mr. Arthur
MacNamara, Deputy Minister of Labour; Mr. C. R. McCord, Director, and
Mr. J. G. Fletcher, Actuary, Annuities Branch, Department of Labour; Mr.
R. Leighton Foster, K.C., General Counsel, and Mr. W. M. Anderson, Chairman,
of the Social Insurance Committee of the Canadian Life Insurance Officers
Association; Mr. L. W. Dunstall, General Manager, The Life Underwriters
Association of Canada, and, also representing The Life Underwriters Association
of Canada, Mr. Ralph Foster, Canada Life Assurance Company, and Mr.
J. D. Mingay, Prudential Assurance Company.

The Chairman presented the Second Report of the Sub-Committee on
Agenda and Procedure which is as follows:

Your Sub-Committee on Agenda and Procedure having met on
Wednesday, November 28, and Thursday, November 29, recommends:
1. That the Industrial Relations Committee meet on Friday, November

30 at 9:30 o’clock a.m., and on Monday, December 3 at 9:30

o’clock a.m. i
2. That the representatives of The Life Underwriters Association and

the Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association be heard at the

Friday meeting. )

3. That Mr. W. M. Mercer, Actuary, of Vancouver, be heard at the

Monday meeting, if he is present.

On motion of Mrs. Fairclough,
Resolved,—That the Second Report of the Sub-Committee on Agenda and
Procedure, presented this day, be now concurred in.

Mr. R. Leighton Foster in;roduced Mr. W. M. Anderson, who presented the
brief of The Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association, was questioned
thereon, and retired.

On motion of Mr. Knowles,
Resolved,—That the Committee sit until 11:30 o’clock a.m. today.

Mr. Dunstall introduced Mr. Ralph Foster, who presented the brief of
The Life Underwriters Association of Canada. Mr. Dunstall, Mr. Foster and
Mr. Mingay were questioned thereon and retired.

Mr. A. MacNamara tabled for the information of the Committee a copy
of a report received by him from The Teachers Insurance and Annuity
Association of America. See Appendix “A” to today’s Evidence.

The Committee adjourned at 11:30 o’clock a.m., until Monday, December 3,
at 9:30 o’clock a.m.

E. W. INNES,

Clerk of the Committee.
96739—13






EVIDENCE

NovEMBER 30, 1951
9.30 a.m.

The CHAIRMAN: Lady and gentlemen, we have a quorum. Your sub-
committee on agenda and procedure met and submits its second report as
follows: First, that the industrial relations committee meet on Friday,
November 30, at 9.30 a.m., and on Monday, December 3, at 9.30 a.m.

Second, that the representatives of the Life Underwriters Association
and the Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association be heard at the Friday
meeting; and thirdly, that Mr. W. M. Mercer, actuary, of Vancouver, be
heard at the Monday meeting if he is present.

Mrs. FatrcLoUGH: I move that the report be adopted.

Mr. Cc‘)TE’:: I second it.
Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have with us this morning the Canadian
Life Insurance Officers Association and the Life Underwriters Association.
I am going to call on Mr. R. Leighton Foster, general counsel of the Canadian
Life Insurance Officers Association, to introduce his delegation.

Mr. R. LEiGHTON FosTER, K.C.; Mr. Chairman, Mrs. Fairclough, honour-
able members. There are associated with me Mr. John A. Tuck and Mr.
Duncan MacTavish, K.C., of Ottawa, and we also have several officers and
members of our committee here. Mr. J. K. Macdonald is president of the
Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association, and also president of the
Confederation Life Association; Mr. W. M. Anderson is chairman of the
committee which has been studying this bill, and vice-president and managing
director of North American Life Assurance Company, and a past president
of our association; Mr. Gordon Beatty is vice-president and chief actuary
of The Canada Life Assurance Company; Mr. F. J. Cunningham is vice-
president and secretary of the Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada, and
Mr. George L. Holmes is assistant general manager and actuary of the
. Manufacturers Life Insurance Company, and also a vice-president of our
association.

It might suit your pleasure, sir, to hear Mr. Anderson speak on behalf
of the group, he being the chairman of our committee.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr. Foster. We will call on Mr. W. M.
Anderson, please.

35
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THE CANADIAN LIFE INSURANCE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION
Organized in 1894
SUBMISSION

made to the

STANDING COMMITTEE
on
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
of the
HOUSE OF COMMONS
concerning

BILL NO. 23 TO AMEND THE GOVERNMENT ANNUITIES ACT
at

OTTAWA, CANADA
November 28, 1951

To the Chairman and Members of the Standing Committee on Industrial
Relations of the House of Commons:

I

This brief is submitted by The Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association,
a voluntary organization formed in 1894 whose membership (listed at the
end of this submission) consists of 64 Canadian, British and United States life

*insurance companies carrying on business in Canada. These companies have
in force approximately $17 billion of life insurance representing upwards of
999% of the total life insurance held by nearly 5 million Canadians. They are
also very active in the field of individual annuity contracts and pension plans.
Today they are administering annuity contracts in Canada providing for more
than $200 million in annual payments. During 1950 their income in the form of
annuity considerations paid by Canadians totalled nearly $60 million.

Today some 10,000 whole-time life insurance agents are selling annuities
and life insurance policies throughout Canada. It is the daily work of these
agents to merchandise thrift to the Canadian people. The success of their
efforts can be measured by the fact that the companies are administering funds
totalling more than $4 billion accumulated for the benefit of their 5 million
Canadian policyholders.  This pool of savings represents an average of about
$800 per policyholder and is increasing at the rate of some $250 million each
year. ‘

The life insurance companies are thus playing a vital part in mobilizing

the savings of Canadians by helping them to save systematically—a function
of the utmost importance to the national economy, since these savings are
largely used to finance the building of homes, schools, stores, public works,
factories, and other projects so important to Canada’s continued growth and

development. It is the belief of the companies that some of the amendments ,

to the Government Annuities Act being proposed in Bill 23 will seriously
interfere with this vital task.

II

It is the opinion of the life insurance companies that there has_ never been
any justification for the government being in the annuities business except

possibly to minimize the prospective burden of old age assistance benefits. -

With the advent of universal old age pensions even this justification has largely
disappeared.

No government outside of Canada undertakes to sell voluntary annuities
below cost.
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The report of the Royal Commission on the Taxation of Annuities and
Family Corporations (1945), referring to the Government Annuities Act, says:
“The object of this legislation was stated to be the promotion of habits of thrift
and to afford an opportunity for people to provide for their old age at the
lowest possible cost and with the greatest possible security. The measure was
not designed to furnish annuities for wealthy people but was intended only as
an incentive to the person of small means.” This intention quite evidently was
related to the desirability of minimizing old age assistance problems but this
object has been achieved only to a very limited degree. Most individual pur-
chases of government annuities are made by people of the well-to-do class who
presumably will not need assistance in old age, and who do not need subsidized
annuity rates now, but who nevertheless recognize a bargain and are quite
willing to take advantage of it. :

The member companies of this Association are firm believers in - our
free enterprise system and are opposed to any unnecessary encroachment
of government in fields of endeavour already satisfactorily served by private
business. They think it only reasonable that people who desire to supplement
their universal old age benefits by the practice of individual thrift should
do so by purchasing annuities or insurance policies from one .of the many
life insurance companies or by using other savings institutions. It is ac-
cordingly submitted that the government should now discontinue the sale
of annuities on a voluntary basis.

IIT

If the government does continue in the annuity business, there is cer-
tainly no justification for using a subsidized system of the present or proposed
type. It is not a proper function of government to subsidize a small part of .
the population at the expense of the general taxpayer, especially when many
members of that part are better able to take care of themselves than is the
average Canadian.

If Bill 23 is enacted, a man desiring to purchase an ordinary life
annuity of $200 per month at age 65 must at existing rates pay a single
premium of $27,960 if the contract is purchased as an immedite annuity,
or must make annual payments sufficient to accumulate to this sum if the
contract is purchased on the deferred annuity basis. In neither case can
it be seriously argued that such a purchaser is a person of modest means
who requires government assistance to provide for his old age. Indeed,
if this man were to invest such a sum' of money in the government’s own

bonds, he would receive less favourable terms that he could obtain by buying
any other Canadian bonds.

Company annuity rates are currently from 5% to 159 higher than
government rates, partly due to more active merchandising and servicing
and partly due to subsidy. The people of Canada, with few exceptions, are
unaware of the actual reasons for this rate differential and erroneously con-
clude that the companies are either making excessive profits or operating
inefficiently. This is grossly unfair to the companies because, despite their
efficiency of operation, they derive little or no profit from their annuity
business due to the long-term trends in interest, mortality and price levels.

It has always been the practice of the government to bear the costs of
administering the Government Annuities Act. These costs are currently
reported to be approximately $800,000 per annum, but this covers only some
of the direct expenses, such as salaries, agents’ commissions, advertising,
office supplies, etc., and none of the indirect expenses. If all expenses,
direct and indirect, were taken into account, the true administrative costs



38 STANDING COMMITTEE

would be substantially higher. In addition, the government’s rates will
always contain an inevitable element of subsidy due to the government’s
practical difficulty of making proper allowance for:
(a) the interest rates which will prevail many years after issue when
future purchase price instalments are being paid; and
(b) the substantial prospective improvements in annuitant mortality.*

It is therefore submitted that, if the government continues in the annuity
field, it should adopt self-supporting premium rates taking account of the
true costs of administering the Act, and reflecting realistic assumptions as to
prospective interest and mortality factors.

v

If the government adheres to its announced policy of continuing to sell
annuities at subsidized rates, then it is of paramount importance that such
annuities should be restricted in both amount and character.

The proposal that the maximum annuity purchaseable be raised to $2,400
violates the ‘underlying philosophy of the Government Annuities Act that
subsidized rates were only intended to assist the person of modest means in
making orderly provision for his old age. In the debates on this subject at
this session of the House of Commons, it has been argued that the proposed
increase in the maximum annuity purchaseable will be of no use to the great
majority of Canadians and, in particular, will be of no assistance to people of
modest means. It is also relevant to note that the benefits of the subsidy have
~never been distributed on an equitable basis because:

(a) The cost of the subsidy has been borne by the general body of
taxpayers but has been of benefit only to those who voluntarily
purchased a government annuity, including many of the well-to-do
class who are in no need of a subsidy.

(b) The individual who has been able to afford an annuity of maximum
amount has enjoyed a much larger relative share of the total subsidy
than the citizen in more humble circumstances who has only been

able to afford a small annuity. This result is in direct conflict with the:

basic principle that social subsidies should never be granted on a basis
whereby the well-to-do recipient benefits more than the less for-
tunate one.

(¢) Many employers have established pension plans through the medium
of government annuities. In most such cases it is the employer
who benefits from the subsidy because his employees will normally
make the same contributions (a percentage of their salaries) as if
the plan had been established in some other way.

(d) Large numbers of Canadians of modest means have not been in a
position to share in the subsidy (although they may be paying a
portion of its cost through taxation) because they have chosen to
invest all their savings in homes, farms and small businesses.

The inequitable distribution of the subsidy creates many injustices even under
present conditions and it is obvious that a further increase in the limit will
only serve to aggravate the situation.

* The problem of selecting an appropriate basis of mortality for annuities commencing
in different calendar years is a peculiarly complex one and has been the subject of exhaustive
study by Mr. Wilmer A. Jenkins, F.S.A., A.ILA.,, who is Administrative Vice-President of the
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of New York, an acknowledged authority on
annuity matters, and the actuarial consultant retained by the Department of Labour in
connection with the rate revision of 1948.

(-~
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It is sometimes argued that the limit of $1,200 should be raised bpcguge
of the lowered purchasing power of the dollar. Actually the pres_ent 1.1m1t is
much too high for subsidized annuities. There is literally no just1f'1cat10n for
subsidizing annuities of an amount which, together with the universal old
age pension, would give the annuitant a purchasing power greate:r .than the
average expenditure per person in Canada. As well as this, the limit should
be within the savings ability of the great majority of Canadians and within the
area where old age assistance benefits may otherwise be required.

For these reasons, it is submitted that, if the practice of offering annuities
at subsidized rates is continued, the maximum amount of annuity purchaseable
should be reduced substantially from the present level.

v

The: proposed introduction of cash surrender values is a radical departure
from the tradition and purpose of the government annuities system and of
major concern to the life insurance business.

Heretofore the government has always been in the annuity business in a
limited way—limited as to the maximum annuity purchaseable and limited
as to the type of contract offered. Its contracts have always been deliberately
inflexible. In particular example, it has always been a cardinal feature of the
Act that owners of government annuities have not been permitted to withdraw
their funds except as life annuities. The purpose of the legislation has always
been to provide retirement income solely in the form of life annuities.

Attention is directed to the following significant statement made on June
14, 1934, to the Special Committee of the Senate on Public Accounts and
Estimates by Mr. E. G. Blackadar, A.S.A., then Superintendent of the Annuities
Branch:

“...We absolutely refuse to pay out a man’s money. We protect him
against doing anything foolish. He has got to draw the money in an
annuity. If he is destitute at forty-five and has enough to his credit to
buy an annuity we give him an annuity then.”

Many people have always felt that the only possible justification for the sale
of government annuities below cost was that its contracts were inflexible
and that all contributions were “locked in” so that they could never be used
by the purchaser under any circumstances for any purpose except to provide
an annuity.

There is ample evidence to indicate that it has never been the government’s
intention to interfere with the operations of the life insurance companies in
such a way as to restrict the services they are offering to the public. For
instance, the late Hon. Mr. W. S. Fielding remarked in the House of Commons
on March 12, 1920, that “it was never intended that this should be a scheme to
compete with insurance companies.” And yet, the introduction of cash sur-
render values would accomplish exactly this result. It would not only drive
the companies out of the annuity field but it would also interfere seriously with
the sale of all insurance policies involving long term savings.

It is axiomatic that no private business of any kind can survive if the gov-
ernment offers at less than cost, on exactly the same terms, the identical ser-
vice or product as that of the private firm. This is precisely what will happen
in the life insurance business as now conducted if future purchasers of govern-
ment annuities are given a cash surrender privilegé because this privilege is
presently the most significant difference between government annuities and
company annuities.
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It is largely because of the rigidity of government contracts and the flexi-
bility of company contracts providing cash surrender values that life insurance
agents are enabled to remain in the business along with the government today,
notwithstanding the current differential in rates. However, if Parliament con-
cludes to allow cash surrender values and, accordingly, government contracts
which are essentially on “all fours” with those of the companies are offered at
subsidized rates, these agents will feel compelled, except in special cases, to
cease their efforts to sell annuities, because they will be unable honestly to ask
a client to pay more than the government charges for an identical contract.

Life insurance agents will also be frustrated in their efforts to merchandise
all life insurance policies involving long term savings and may be driven into
the position of selling purely protective forms of life insurance almost exclu-
sively. Nor can a few government salesmen selling only one kind of security
ever reach the broad cross-section of the public being served today by the com-
panies’ 10,000 agents with their wide variety of life insurance and annuity
contracts providing for family security.

Since the companies will no longer be able to function effectively as the
reservoir for a substantial part of the savings of millions of Canadians—a func-

tion which they are presently fulfilling to the extent of adding some $250 million

net to these savings each year—it follows inevitably that there will be a marked
reduction in the overall savings of the Canadian people.

For the foregoing reasons it is submitted that cash surrender privileges
-should not be introduced in government annuity contracts by either direct or
indirect means. Not only should clause (e) of subsection (1) of proposed new
section 13 of the Act be withdrawn from the Bill, but the other provisions of
the Bill relating to term certain annuities, refunds of purchase price, assign-
ments, etc., should be reviewed and revised in order to make certain that none
of them can be utilized to provide cash surrender values indirectly.

VI

The life insurance companies believe that the government should not con-
tinue in the voluntary annuities business at all, and certainly not with sub-
sidized rates. However, if the government remains in the annuity field at
subsidized rates, they urge:

(a) that the maximum amount of annuity purchaseable be reduced sub-
stantially from the present level; and
(b) that the cash surrender privilege be not granted.

The companies believe sincerely that the considerations outlined in this brief
are of the utmost importance and that their contribution to the Canadian
economy will be seriously endangered if Bill 23 is enacted in its present form.
MEMBERS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE :
THE CANADIAN LIFE INSURANCE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION

Zitna Life Insurance Company, J. B. Slimmon.

Alliance Nationale, Roger Des Groseillers.

Bankers Life Company, E. M. McConney.

Caisse Nationale d’Assurance-Vie, H. Ouimet.

The Canada Life Assurance Company, E. C. Gill.

The Commercial Life Assurance Company of Canada, E. B. H. Shaver.
The Confederation Life Association, J. K. Macdonald.

Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, Frazer B. Wilde.
Continental Assurance Company, Howard C. Reeder.

The Continental Life Insurance Company, N. J. Lander.

The Crown Life Insurance Company, H. R. Stephenson.

The Dominion Life Assurance Company, A. S. Upton.

The Dominion of Canada General Insurance Company, J. E. White.

-~
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The T. Eaton Life Assurance Company, A. E. Harkness.
The Empire Life Insurance Company, C. P. Fell.
The Equitable Life Insurance Company of Canada, M. J. Smith.
The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the U.S., R. D. Murphy.
The Excelsior Life Insurance €ompany, T. O. Cox.
Fidelity Life Assurance Company, M. B. Farr.
The Great-West Life Assurance Company, H. W. Manning.
I The Imperial Life Assurance Company of Canada, J. G. Parker.
The Industrial Life Insurance Company, A. F. Muth.
John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company, Byron K. Elliott.
La Laurentienne Life Assurance Company, Dr. J. A. Tardif.
Life Insurance Company of Alberta, R. Murray Marven.
The London Life Insurance Company, R. H. Reid.
London & Scottish Assurance Corporation Limited, James Young.
The Loyal Protective Life Insurance Company, John M. Powell.
The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company, J. H. Lithgow.
Maritime Life Assurance Company, B. Lockwood.
Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company, L. J. Kalmbach.
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, Glen J. Spahn.
The Monarch Life Assurance Company, G. C. Cumming.
Montreal Life Insurance Company, W. Leslie Nicholls.
The Mutual Life Assurance Company, of Canada, A. E. Pequegnat.
The Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York, Leigh Cruess.
The Mutual Life & Citizens’ Assurance Co. Ltd., B. W. Robinson.
The National Life Assurance Company of Canada, L. C. Bonnycastle.
New York Life Insurance Company, Wm. Macfarlane.
North American Life Assurance Company, W. M. Anderson, C.B.E.
North American Life & Casualty Company, Howell P. Skoglund.
North British & Mercantile Insurance Co. Ltd., Alfred Campbell.
The Northern Life Assurance Company of Canada, G. W. Geddes.
Norwich Union Life Insurance Society, C. L. Drewry, M.B.E.
Occidental Life Insurance Company, Howard J. Brace.
Paul Revere Life Insurance Company, William E. Hamilton.
Phoenix Assurance Company Limited, Ralph M. Sketch.
Les Prevoyants du Canada, Gerard White.
The Provident Assurance Company, Etienne Crevier.
The Provident Life & Accident Insurance Company, R. J. MacLellan.
The Prudential Insurance Company of America, R. M. Green.
The Prudential Assurance Co. Ltd., H. D. McNairn, M.B.E., K.C.
Royal Insurance Company Limited, James Matson, C.B.E.
Royal Guardians, W. F. Patterson.
La Sauvegarde Life Insurance Company, N. Ducharme.
La Solidarité Life Assurance Company, R. Manseau.
The Sovereign Life Assurance Company of Canada, H. M. Meiklejohn.
The Standard Life Assurance Company, E. Lindsay Armstrong.
Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada, G. W. Bourke.
La Survivance Mutual Life Assurance Company, Napoleon Laplante:
9 Toronto Mutual Life Insurance Company, Miss L. G. Nicholls.
The Travelers Insurance Company, R. C. Dimon.
Union Mutual Life Insurance Company, R. E. Irish.
The Western Life Assurance Company, O. S. McCombie.
Mr. W. M. Anderson, Vice-President, North American Life Assurance Company,
called:
The WITNESS: Mr. Chairman, honourable members. I understand that all
of you have received mimeographed copies of our submission. I do not want
to dwell at length on its contents because, subject to questioning, I believe that
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it speaks for itself. Very briefly, the position that the life insurance companies
have taken in connection with this proposed legislation is that they have never
felt that the government should engage in the selling of voluntary annuities;
more particularly since the enactment of the universal old age pension legis-
lation, they feel that there is even less reason for the government to remain in
the annuities field. Likewise, we have never felt that, when the government
does sell a voluntary annuity, it should be sold on a subsidized basis. The
reasons for that feeling are expressed in our brief. On the other hand, we can
well realize that, either by intent or inherently, the government, if it does
'sell voluntary annuities, will almost inevitably be forced to do so on a subsidized
basis. We take the position, for reasons which we cite, that, if the government
continues in the field of selling voluntary annuities at subsidized rates its
position is not justifiable unless it does two things, firstly, in the light of present
circumstances and for reasons which we cite, it should reduce rather than
increase the maximum annuity which it is willing to sell on a subsidized basis,
and secondly, it should not move into a position where cash surrender values
are granted on its annuity contracts either directly, as is intended by the
legislation, or indirectly, as may be provided by certain other sections of the
legislation. Our views are to the effect that if the bill is enacted in its present
form, it will have the direct effect of driving the life insurance companies
out of the annuity business and indirectly it will have the effect of threatening
and endangering the long term savings provisions which are contained in life
insurance policies. It may, therefore, have the tendency of forcing the com-
panies and their field forces more and more to the sale of pure protection,
but sales by the government will by no means make up for the decline which
may occur in systematic savings through the life companies, and the overall
effect may easily be that the total systematic savings by Canadians will decline.
In our opinion this would have a very bad effect upon the mobilization of
capital for Canada’s growth and development and also upon the program of
control of inflation. We also believe that there are other problems associated
with the question of subsidy of government annuities which relate to the
maldistribution of the subsidy as between purchasers, and that this situation
is not in the public interest. Accordingly, while our views are quite naturall_y
put forward in an attitude of self-interest, we are convinced that, just as is
normally the case, our own self-interest is identified with the public interest
because we endeavour to operate the life insurance business in such a way
that that is always so.

I think, Mr. Chairman, that this presents our point of view briefly, although,
as you will realize, I have not attempted to detail the reasons contained in the
brief through which we have reached this point of view.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr. Anderson. The brief was distributed to
the committee yesterday.

Mr. KNOwWLES: That brief should be on the record, should it not, Mr.
Chairman?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. COTE: Will it not be in order, Mr. Chairman, to have the brief printed
in the record immediately following the opening remarks of the witness? That
will facilitate discussion of the points he has made.

By Mrs. Fairclough:

Q. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Mr. Anderson this question: In
‘1931, when the maximum annuity was reduced from $5,000 to $1,200, did your
association make representations to the committee or to the government at
that time protesting against that move?—A. At that time the government
annuity system was not by any means in the same position that it is in today.
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My recollection is that at that time government annuities were offered over
the counter, as it were, that the system was not being used to provide group
annuities for employees, and, furthermore, that the state of the government
bond market was of such a character that it was difficult to take the view that
the government annuities were being subsidized. That meant, of course, that the
action taken by the government was not of a character where it had any effect
on the life insurance companies.

Q. I will leave that for the moment. Would you explain briefly what the
experience of the companies has been with regard to the cash surrender aspect
of their policies? Do you find that there is a tendency to cash in on these
policies at any given period of time. For instance, do you have a great many
applications for cash, say, after—I believe there is no cash surrender value till
after three years, is that true?—A. No, that is not true.

Q. Well then, where is there the greatest tendency to cash them in?—
A. The majority of the companies are writing deferred annuity contracts
with a cash value right from the beginning in the first' year. And there is
a fairly heavy tendency for them to terminate by way of surrender in the
very early years. After the first two or three years the tendency to surrender
declines quite rapidly, and it is only of moment during a period of depression.
Remember that the companies in issuing deferred annuity_ contracts with a
cash surrender value are also giving a policy loan privilege. A great many
annuitants purchasing annuities require temporary funds sometimes for
emergency purposes. They will obtain these funds by borrowing on their
policies and later repaying the loan, rather than surrendering the policies.

Q. Leaving out the matter of borrowing against the policy, it is apparently
a matter of meeting an emergency?—A. Except that the policy loan avoids
surrender of the policy.

Q. Let us now deal with the complete surrender of a policy. Would you
say that the period was one of three years or five years in which it was
likely to occur?—A. No, I think it would be earlier than that.

Q. And with that in view is there any particular sum which appears
to be attractive?—A. What do you mean?

Q. Do you find that there is a tendency to withdraw on the part of the
people who have, let us say, $1,000 in such a contract? Does that appear
to be an attractive sum which they might like to take out and invest in
some other type of security, or take out and spend? Or would it be a matter
of $500, or $2,000? What would be the average?—A. I cannot answer that
question directly. I think that one of the life underwriters who may be
appearing here later might answer the question for you better than I could.
Most people buy life insurance policies or annuity policies for a particular
purpose. Frequently people will buy a contract and surrender it later at
a time when there is a certain amount of money accumulated in it. They
may be saving up for a trip around the world, or even for a trip to the
next town, if they are in more modest circumstances. And in addition to
that, people’s own circumstances charnge.

People will buy systematic savings contracts with the best of intentions,
yet when their circumstances change later on, they find it more appropriate to
use the money otherwise. Our objection to the introduction of cash surrender
values in government annuity contracts, from the point of view of the
public interest is, of course, that the system is designed to facilitate long
term savings for retirement. Whatever justification there may be for subsidies
for that purpose, it does not relate to a system which is subsidized for the
purpose of providing shorter term savings for people.

Q. You would not say, then, that there was any general movement by
people to cash in their annuity contracts?—A. No.
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Q. Do you think there is a trend among working people to save for a
short time and then, if they see something which is attractive to them, to
withdraw that money?—A. No. As a matter of faet, the annuity policies
which are sold by the companies are not attractive as short term savings
contracts. We advise all of our purchasers of deferred annuity contracts that
they should not buy them unless they are contemplating long term savings
and we tell them that the contract would not prove to be a good one if they
have to surrender it within a few years.

By Mr. Knowles:

Q. A person actually will lose if he surrenders it within a short time?—

A. Yes, Mr. Knowles, everybody loses. The company loses, the person who
purchases loses, and our field men lose. g

Q. Is there not a feeling on the part of your companies of opposition to
the cash surrender value feature in government annuity contracts, and that
they should not have it in their annuity contracts?—A. In one sense, as I have
endeavoured to indicate, we want to grant as flexible contracts as we can.
If it were possible for us in practice to grant contracts without a surrender
value, we might do so for certain purposes; but it is completely impractical
because we cannot make our contracts non-assignable. The government
contracts have been non-assignable, but if we issued a contract today which
had no cash surrender value, what would happen? If the individual wanted
to cash in on it, he would do just as he would do in England, he would
sell his contract to somebody, and perhaps he would do so at a substantial
loss; so we do not think it would be fair for the life insurance companies
to issue assignable contracts without cash surrender values.

By Mrs. Fairclough:

Q. I believe you stated that if the government annuities provide cash
surrender values, it would leave the life insurance companies with no advantage
over government annuities. Is there no other advantage that the insurance
companies have over government annuities? What else do you have that makes
them a more attractive purchase than a government annuity?—A. You are
speaking of our deferred annuity contract as compared with a government
annuity, if they both contain cash surrender values?

Q. Yes.—A. We provide a different type of service in the sense that we
deal with people from time to time and endeavour to keep them saving system-
atically. We have this assignment privilege which we must grant, because
there is not any satisfactory way for us to deny the purchaser the right to
dispose of his own property. We are not in a position where we can legislate
as the government can in connection with its contracts. We have provisions
for loans and settlement options. There are certain other provisions which
can be arranged but do not relate directly to contracts, such matters as
provisions for disability income. It is our opinion that the situation will
undoubtedly be one where the main elements of the contracts, the cash which
is available, the annuity which is available, will be comparable under the two
contracts, and the government contracts will be sold at lower rates. Under
those circumstances it is rather difficult if not impossible for our agent to
recommend to the purchaser that he should buy from the insurance company
when the main contract is the same and the government price is lower.

Q. Would you say these additional services which you offer have a tendency
to greatly increase your costs?—A. I would think offhand that the difference
between the government rates and ours contains a significant element which
relates to the cost of our more aggressive merchandising and our more extensive
servicing.

clj
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Q. If you will permit me to come back to this matter of the maximum, you
said that in 1931 or thereabouts you did not consider the government was sub-
sidizing the scheme to any marked degree. Now, I have a table of the amounts
transferred to maintain reserves going back to 1930 when, with less than 1,200
annuities in force, the amount transferred to maintain reserves was $108,000,
which was a unit cost of $8.91. True, the amount has grown with the number
of units in force, and it has increased to the present time so that $615,000 has
been transferred and the unit cost was $2.23. Will you agree with me it is
a matter of opinion whether it is a less desirable situation to have the unit cost
greatly reduced or have the smaller amount?—A. You are speaking of mortality
subsidies?

Q. No, I mean the amount transferred, which is the amount of subsidy to
maintain reserves.—A. Don’t forget this: The amount transferred to maintain
reserves, as I understand it, has been transferred from year to year to meet
the actual mortality losses which are arising, and in addition on certain occasions
there have been large transfers for the purpose of strengthening the valuation
system. Even today the government annuity system is in the position where
it has a great many deferred annuities in force written up to 1948 which will
mature many years in the future and where the provisions for mortality losses,
by reason of the assumptions under which they are sold, will not come into
the valuation until they vest and become payable. The transfers which have
occurred during the interval up to date do not represent the full potential
mortality losses on the annuities which have already been sold.

Q. Do you have any figures to show the average yield of annuities which
are sold by life insurance companies?—A. In what respect?

Q. The other day I believe in questioning the government officials a figure
of $447 was given. Can you give the average of the value of annuities which
the insurance companies have; are they very much higher than that?—A. I have
certain figures as to the annuities of the companies and they indicate that on
our annuities which were in force at the end of 1950, the deferred annuities
average about $800 per contract and the vested annuities, the ones now being
paid, average about $450 per contract. The figures are slightly different for
the new contracts which are being sold.

By Mr. Knowles:

Q. Have you any figures as to the number of annuities in force with insur-
ance companies, and also figures as to the net premium receipts per year? The
reason I ask that quite frankly is that we have figures from the annuity branch
and I would like to know what the volume of business done by the insurance
companies is compared to the government branch.—A. These figures are taken
from the federal Department of Insurance report and have been brought in
from several different places in that report. At the end of 1950 there were in
force in Canada in all life insurance companies 237,000 deferred annuities which
provide for annual payments of $184 million. There were 35,000 vested
annuities providing for annual payments of $16 million.

By Mr. Pouliot:

Q. If I am permitted, I will come back to the additional service you refer
to. You come here with your associates because you have some concern about
the possible competition you would have from government annuities. Now, do
you advertise your additional services?—A. Yes.

Q. And they indicate the superiority of what you are offering and therefore
decrease your concern about competition from the government annuities?—A.

Mind you, we do not pretend to be able to do anything the government cannot
do but we cannot subsidize annuities.
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Q. You offer additional services which mean an additional benefit to the
insured people?—A. Part of the cost we use for the purpose of encouraging them
to save systematically by keeping in touch with them to continue saving. We are
doing things the government annuities branch is not doing and it costs us
money to do that, and we must charge to do it.

By Mr. Brown:
Q. For instance, you bill these people?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Pouliot:

Q. Do you realize what is the real superiority of government annuities over
insurance company annuities?—A. You mean at the present time or as you are
proposing?

Q. I will tell you I do not think it is subsidizing. Government annuities are
much more accessible than what you may offer to the Canadian public and those
who want to buy government annuities can have them in many places your
agents cannot cover.—A. I would quite agree that they are more accessible
in the sense they are available through any post office. On the other hand, we
are firmly convinced that people in general are not prone to save systematically
unless they are encouraged to do so by somebody.

Q. I come to a point that may interest you. Have you considered
centralization of your agencies so as to compete with the government annuities
and take advantage of the publicity that is used extensively by your insurance
company?—A. As a matter of fact, Mr. Pouliot, according to our knowledge, in
the past it has been our people who have been directly responsible for a man
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